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Directors’ Statement
EEETYUFH

Dear Shareholders,

| hereby present you with the 2024 Annual Report of Allegro Culture
Limited (formerly known as Kingkey Intelligence Culture Holdings
Limited (the “Company”)) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024").

REVIEW

In 2024, the Group’s overall revenue decreased by approximately
13.3% to HK$31.5 million, mainly due to the cessation of revenue
from non-advertising segments, particularly the e-commerce segment.
Revenue from the core advertising services recorded a slight decrease
of approximately 3.0% compared to 2023, reaffirming the advertising
segment as the Group’s primary revenue driver.

The Group recorded a loss before income tax of approximately
HK$12.5 million in 2024, representing an improvement of
approximately 65.5% compared to the loss before income tax of
approximately HK$36.2 million in 2023. This reduction reflects the
Group's ongoing efforts to streamline its operations and focus on its
core business amid a period of restructuring.

From a macroeconomic perspective, the business environment in
2024, particularly in Hong Kong, was marked by gradual post-
pandemic economic recovery. The city benefited from relaxed
travel restrictions and improving consumer confidence. However,
uncertainties persisted due to ongoing global inflationary pressures,
geopolitical tensions, and supply chain disruptions, which continued
to affect overall market sentiment. The Group will remain vigilant in
monitoring these developments to adapt its strategies accordingly.

To conclude, despite the external environment remaining
challenging, the Group maintained its focus on the core advertising
business, expanded its presence in Mainland China, advanced its
digital initiatives within the region, and upheld its commitment to
operational stability and long-term sustainable growth.
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PROSPECT

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to strengthening its
core advertising business while selectively pursuing strategic growth
opportunities in Hong Kong and Mainland China. The post-pandemic
economic recovery in Hong Kong, coupled with improving labor
market conditions, is expected to boost demand for recruitment
advertising services. Building on its strong track record of organizing
job fairs and promotional events in Hong Kong, the Group plans
to expand its promotional services into Mainland China. The
establishment of an in-house production team in Mainland China
is aimed at enhancing cost efficiency and quality through vertical
integration of event-related production. Additionally, the appointment
of experienced project management personnel reinforces the Group’s
capability to execute large-scale projects and events in the region.

The Group has further broadened its presence in Mainland China by
leveraging popular digital platforms like Douyin via partnerships with
authorized agents, complemented by its in-house design expertise
to deliver comprehensive advertising solutions. The Group's flagship
publication, Recruit Magazine, a prominent physical publication
focused on the employment sector, alongside Like Magazine, a
lifestyle and leisure-focused online platform, provide a diversified
multi-channel presence across print, web, app, and social media —
including Facebook, Instagram, and Rednote. These platforms serve
as effective complementary channels for advertisers targeting digitally
savvy audiences. Continued investment in content creation and
platform optimization will be essential to driving traffic growth and
enhancing profitability.

While acknowledging past disruptions in non-core segments, the
Group is now entering a promising phase of transformation and
growth centred on its core advertising business. Under the dedicated
leadership of current management, significant progress has been
made toward restoring normal operations and resuming trading
on the Stock Exchange. Supported by a solid financial foundation,
experienced team, and diversified business model, the Group is
confident in delivering sustainable value and enhanced returns to its
shareholders.
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Directors’ Statement
EESYEH

Finally, on behalf of the Board, we are sincerely thankful to all
stakeholders, our diligent employees for their efforts, supportive
shareholders for their trust, and loyal readers and users for their
affirmation and backing. While we constantly strive for a better
future, we also wish you all the best of luck.

Yiu Sze Wai
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 6 August 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The year 2024 was marked by a persistently complex and uncertain
global economic environment. Heightened geopolitical tensions,
escalating trade disputes, and sustained high interest rates across
major economies exerted downward pressure on global demand and
financial markets. These external headwinds, coupled with cautious
business sentiment, led to subdued domestic economic activity and
restrained hiring intentions across several industries. Against this
backdrop, the Group remained resilient and focused on key strategic
priorities in enhancing operational efficiency, expanding geographical
reach, and accelerating digital transformation, leveraging the
strengths of its core advertising business to position the Group for
long-term and sustainable growth.

Advertising Business

In 2024, Hong Kong’'s economy maintained its post-pandemic
recovery, albeit at a moderated pace. The real GDP grew by 2.5%
compared to 3.2% in 2023, underpinned by a resurgence in
external trade, with exports of goods increasing by 4.7% year-on-
year. This recovery supported a stable labor market, reflected in a
seasonally adjusted unemployment rate averaging 3.1%, while the
underemployment rate remained steady at approximately 1.1%, as
reported by the Hong Kong Census and Statistics Department.

Despite these positive macroeconomic indicators, the Group’s
advertising business faced ongoing structural challenges. Key
consumer-facing sectors, including retail and food and beverage,
continued to operate below pre-pandemic levels due to the strong
Hong Kong dollar and a notable shift in local spending patterns,
particularly the increased cross-border consumption by residents.
These sector-specific pressures, along with intensified competition and
employers’ growing preference for digital hiring platforms, resulted
in a 26.5% year-on-year decline in the advertising revenue generated
from Recruit Magazine, which decreased to HK$23.9 million (2023:
HK$32.5 million).

In response, the Group strengthened its value proposition through
refined promotional strategies, customized recruitment campaigns,
and enhanced collaboration with advertising service providers.
These efforts aimed to boost customer engagement, improve service
differentiation, and mitigate revenue pressure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWmED N

In parallel, the Group advanced its digital advertising initiatives in
Mainland China through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen
Allegro Culture Limited (“SZ Allegro”). During the year, SZ Allegro
provided advertising and promotional services via popular social media
platforms such as Douyin. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
this subsidiary contributed approximately HK$5.1 million in revenue.
To the best knowledge of the Directors, all counterparties involved
in such transactions are third parties independent of the connected
persons of the Company and their association.

Additionally, SZ Allegro entered into a business promotion
cooperation agreement with Shenzhen Kingkey Real Estate Holdings
Limited (“SZ Kingkey”) to provide advertising services for real estate
projects through to the end of 2024. Approximately HK$2.5 million
in revenue was generated under this agreement. As SZ Kingkey is
a connected person under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
transactions were classified as continuing connected transactions.
However, given that all applicable percentage ratios and annual
caps fall below the de minimis thresholds under Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules, these transactions in year 2024 were exempt from the
disclosure, annual review, and shareholders’ approval requirements.

Looking ahead, the Group intends to deepen its presence in the
dynamic advertising and promotional markets of Mainland China,
leveraging the growing demand for digital engagement and localized
content.

Other Business Segments

As disclosed in the annual results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group ceased to develop new business in
the medical and health products segment, e-commerce segment, and
intellectual property (“IP”) development and design services segment
due to the former executive director’s failure to properly hand over
key operational and financial documentation following his departure
in September 2023. Since mid 2023, the Group has gradually de-
consolidated and/or strategically disposed the relevant subsidiaries and
redirected management resources to safeguard and recover existing

assets.

Substantial progress has been made in retrieving the records
concerning historical operations and recovering outstanding
investments in these segments. Nevertheless, these segments did not
contribute materially to the Group's financial performance in 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECT

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to strengthening its
core competencies while actively pursuing opportunities for strategic
expansion across Hong Kong and Mainland China. The business
environment in Hong Kong has shown signs of gradual recovery post-
pandemic, yet remains susceptible to global economic uncertainties.
Nonetheless, the Group is well-positioned to capture growth in
both recruitment advertising and promotional services, supported
by its well-established brand, diversified platforms, and consistent
operational execution.

The Group’s flagship publication, Recruit Magazine, continues
to serve as a trusted and effective platform for recruitment and
commercial advertising in Hong Kong. With the easing of pandemic-
related disruptions and positive labor market indicators, the demand
for recruitment services is expected to improve alongside economic
recovery. The Group’s multi-platform approach — spanning print, web,
app, and social media channels such as Facebook, Instagram, and
Rednote (/N4 ) — enables it to reach a broad and diverse audience,
thus maintaining relevance in a fast-evolving media landscape.

To further expand its market reach, the Group is actively exploring
advertising opportunities in Mainland China, where digital platforms
such as Douyin offer significant potential. By partnering with
authorized agents and leveraging its in-house design expertise, the
Group aims to provide end-to-end advertising solutions to clients
interested in penetrating the PRC market.

Since 2024, we started expanding our advertising business beyond
Hong Kong. In April 2025, we have entered into a promotion
cooperation framework agreement with Kingkey Group, pursuant to
which we shall provide a wide range of advertising and promotional
services to Kingkey Group for a period of three years. Since Kingkey
Group is a connected person of the Company, the transactions
constitute continuing connected transaction and subject to reporting,
announcement, circular, annual review and the independent
shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules. The annual caps
ranged from RMB10.5 million to RMB16.0 million. For further details
of the transaction, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 15 April 2025 and the circular of the Company dated 11 July
2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWmED N

On the other hand, Like Magazine, the Group's lifestyle and leisure-
focused online publication, has steadily built a loyal audience base
since its full digitalization in 2020. With approximately 160,000
Facebook followers and a growing presence on Instagram and
Rednote, the platform has demonstrated strong potential as a
horizontal expansion of the Group’s advertising business. Positioned as
a one-stop portal for food, travel, health, beauty, and lifestyle deals,
Like Magazine plays a key role in attracting advertising clients seeking
to engage with a digitally savvy audience. The Group will continue to
invest in content creation and platform optimization to drive traffic
and enhance profitability.

Building on its successful track record of organizing job fairs
and exhibitions in Hong Kong, the Group is actively expanding
its promotional services and event management operations into
Mainland China. As cross-border consumer behavior continues to
evolve with the development of the Greater Bay Area, demand for
high-quality promotional campaigns in PRC shopping malls is on the
rise.

To support this expansion, the Group is establishing its own workshop
in the PRC (which commenced operations in July 2025), which
will handle the production of event-related props and decorations.
This vertical integration will significantly reduce reliance on third-
party suppliers, enhance cost efficiency, and improve quality
control. Additionally, the Group has onboarded experienced project
management personnel with deep expertise in large-scale event
execution in Mainland China, further strengthening its operational
capabilities.

Despite certain disruptions on business segments other than the core
advising business of the Group that were mainly caused by the failure
to deliver document records involving a former executive Director, the
Group is entering a promising period of transformation and growth
in its core advertising segment. By reinforcing its core advertising
business, leveraging digital and social media platforms, and expanding
its footprint in the PRC through promotional campaigns and event
services, the Group is laying the foundation for sustainable value
creation. Supported by a solid financial position, experienced team,
and diversified business model, the Group is confident in achieving
long-term success and delivering enhanced returns to its shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of advertising
services, (i) sales of medical and health products, (iii) e-commerce
(mainly in sales of household and personal care products), and (iv) IP
development design service income.

The revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 13.3% from
approximately HK$36.3 million in 2023 to approximately HK$31.5
million in 2024. The decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to
the cessation of revenue in the segments other than the advertising
segment, particularly the e-commerce segment of the Group.

Provision of advertising services

The Group engaged in provision of advertising services, mainly
through operating the Recruit Magazine and the online platform
namely “Like Magazine". The revenue of provision of advertising
services was approximately HK$31.5 million for 2024, representing a

slight decrease of approximately 3.0% compared to that of 2023.

Sales of medical and health products

The Group engaged in sales of medical and health products, mainly
through operating its 51% owned subsidiary, namely KK Wecheck
Medical Technology Limited (“KK Wecheck”). However, as announced
by the Company on 21 February 2024 and 23 February 2024, the
former executive Director failed and/or refused to provide assistance
to deliver full document records regarding KK Wecheck after his
departure since September 2023. The Company believes it has lost its
control on such subsidiary and therefore de-consolidated since July
2023. Since then, the Company recorded nil revenue in 2024 (2023:
HK$373,000) in this segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWmED N

E-commerce

The Group engaged in e-commerce, mainly in sales of household
and personal care products, mainly through operating one of
its subsidiaries, namely Kingkey E-Commerce Limited (“KKEC").
However, as announced by the Company on 21 February 2024 and
23 February 2024, the former executive director failed and/or refused
to provide assistance to deliver full document records, having said
that the Company managed to retrieve document records (including
accounting records) of KKEC prior to September 2023. However,
extensive management efforts were spent by the Company to
review the pre-existing operation and recover certain investments
in this segment, such that the Company slowed down its pace on
the development of new business in this segment and focused in
recovering proceeds from various items of this segment, such as
stock inventory and investments in concerts. In light of the above, the
Company recorded nil revenue in 2024 (2023: HK$2.9 million) in this
segment.

IP development design service income

The Group engaged in IP development design business mainly through
Hopeful Top Limited (“Hopeful Top”) since December 2022. However,
the document records of this segment were affected by the delivery
of documents involving a former executive Director after his departure
since September 2023. Since then, the Company ceased development
on this segment and disposed the key subsidiary, Hopeful Top, of
this segment in December 2024. In light of the above, the Company
recorded nil revenue in 2024 (2023: HK$576,000) in this segment.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately 10.5%
from approximately HK$20.3 million in 2023 to approximately
HK$18.2 million in 2024. The decrease in gross profit is mainly
attributable to the decrease in revenue, mainly from the segment of
e-commerce.

The gross profit margin of the Group remained at similar level of

approximately 57.8% in 2024 compared to that of approximately
56.0% in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income

The other income of the Group decreased by approximately 15.2%
from approximately HK$1.9 million in 2023 to approximately HK$1.6
million in 2024. The decrease in other income is mainly attributable to
the absence of (i) the sales of e-cigarette that the Company intended
but ceased to further develop, and (ii) the waived loan, partially
offset by the increase in interest income driven by the increased bank
balance during the year.

Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution costs of the Group decreased by
approximately 3.2% from approximately HK$10.6 million in 2023 to
approximately HK$10.2 million in 2024, mainly reflecting the decrease
in the revenue generated from the Group’s advertising business.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
32.5% from approximately HK$34.8 million in 2023 to approximately
HK$23.5 million in 2024. The decrease in administrative expenses is
mainly attributable to the decrease in staff cost.

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

The Group recorded a loss on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately
HK$186,000 in 2024 (2023: HK$3.8 million), representing the loss
from disposal of Glory Novel Limited, Beyond Noble (holding 51%
interest of KK Wecheck that the Group deconsolidated in 2023), and
Smart Path Holdings Limited (“Smart Path”) (holding 100% interest
of Hopeful Top).

Finance cost

The finance cost of the Group increased by approximately
104.4% from approximately HK$67,000 in 2023 to approximately
HK$137,000 in 2024. The increase is mainly due to the increase in
lease liabilities in 2024.

Loss before income tax

In light of the above, the Group recorded a loss before income tax
of approximately HK$12.5 million in 2024, representing a decrease
of approximately 65.5%, compared to the loss before income tax of
approximately HK$36.2 million in 2023.
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FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE

The above financial data were chosen to present in this annual
report as they represent a material financial impact on the financial
statements of the Group for the current and/or the previous financial
year, that a change of which could affect the revenue and profit
conspicuously. It is believed that by presenting the changes of these
financial data can effectively explain the financial performance of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$30.7 million (2023: HK$30.7 million). The Group's
current ratio as at 31 December 2024, which is defined as current
assets over current liabilities, was 3.5 (2023: 4.5). As at 31 December
2024, the Group had a total cash and bank balance of approximately
HK$37.0 million (2023: HK$30.0 million).

The Group has no bank loan nor other borrowing as at 31 December
2024 (2023: nil). The gearing ratio of the Group was 0% (2023: 0%).

The Group adopts centralised financing and treasury policies in order
to ensure the Group’s funding is utilised efficiently. Conservative
approach is adopted on monitoring foreign exchange exposure and
interest rate risk. Forward contracts were used to hedge the foreign
currency exposure in trading and capital expenditure when it was
considered appropriate.

The Group does not have material exposure to currency risk as most
of the Group’s transactions are carried out in HK$, which is the
functional currency of the Company. The Group reviews its foreign
currency exposures on a regular basis and does not consider its
foreign currency risk to be significant.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the total issued shares of the Company
(“Shares”) was 455,534,000 (2023: 455,534,000 Shares) at HK$0.2
each.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2023: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no contingent liabilities
(2023: nil).

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend in

respect of the reporting period (2023: nil).

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

1.

Disposal of associate company

The Company disposed its entire interests in an investment
of an associate company, namely Aurora Medical Technology
(HK) Corp. Limited (“Aurora”), for the consideration of
HK$9,950,000. The transaction was completed in May 2025.
Upon completion, the Company ceased to hold any interest in
Aurora.

For further details of the transaction, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 7 May 2025.

Litigation

HCA 281/2024

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries commenced an
action against a former Director and his controlled company
for damages and equitable compensation arising out of,
among others, the said Director’s breach of fiduciary duties
and/or knowing receipt of benefits from such breaches.
The former Director and his controlled company had filed a
defence and counterclaim. The Company had subsequently
filed a reply and defence to counterclaim. As pleadings have
now closed, the case shall proceed to the case management
stage for further directions. No hearing date has been fixed for
the proceedings as at the date of this report.

HCA 241/2024

The Company commenced an action against another company
concerning a dispute arising out of a subscription agreement.
In the amended statement of claim of the proceedings, the
Company sought (i) a declaration that the said subscription
agreement was null and void and of no legal effect, (ii)
rescission of the subscription agreement, and (iii) return of
the consideration paid for the subscription of shares in the
defendant. The defendant had filed a defence.
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Upon the completion of the agreement of sales and purchase
for the shares in dispute, the Company has disposed of the
shares in dispute. Consequently, parties signed a consent
summons to discontinue the action which the court had
approved.

DCCJ 1940/2024

A former Director commenced an action against the Company
for alleged defamatory statements contained in the Company’s
announcements published in compliance of the Listing Rules
of Hong Kong. The Company had filed a defence to contest
the former Director’s alleged defamatory claim. No hearing
date has been fixed for the proceedings as at the date of this
report.

HCMP 1474/2024

The Company commenced taxation proceedings against
its former solicitors in relation to the invoices for service
rendered. The former solicitors have provided further itemized
breakdown regarding the invoices and the Company is
reviewing the same.

RERFZBENZEEHHEK  ARFE
HEFEBRD - At EHEEERER
SR IR - ZREEREE AL -

B2 R FFFAA20244F 5 19405
—HBREBHARRIRREFA - BIEARQ
ALIEBREA LMARTIENAMAEEHE
FBMRM o ARRIDIRB IR HZATE
ERBOFERRETER - RARSAH
H - ZFRMAETERMAHE -

B AEIEE 2024 F FE 14745
RARSTHEAT RS IRERE 2R
REBEFNR - FIEMERERRMHE—
FHDIBME - NARIEEEH -

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 21 iﬁ—iuﬂ%%%ﬁﬂ?“ﬂﬁﬁﬁn IR _HF—
February 2024, 23 February 2024, 18 March 2024 and 18 April 2024 A=—+—H - ZZE-WWF-A=-+=H - =ZF=N
respectively for further details. FZAFTNAERZZE-EFOA+NABHLAMH -

The Company will make further disclosure wherever appropriate or ~ ANABEREE sk BREHE —FHE ©

necessary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal of Beyond Noble and Smart Path

The Company entered into the sale and purchase agreements with an
independent third party to dispose (i) all the issued shares of Beyond
Noble, which is the legal and beneficial owner of 51% of the issued
shares of KK Wecheck, for the consideration of HK $19,000; and (ii)
all the issued shares of Smart Path, which is the legal and beneficial
owner of the entire issued share capital of Hopeful Top, for the
consideration of HK$1. The transaction was completed by December
2024. Upon completion, the Group ceased to hold any interest in
Beyond Noble, KK Wecheck, Smart Path, and Hopeful Top.

For the details of the disposal, please refer to Company’s
announcement dated 14 March 2025.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND COMPLIANCE
WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the
year ended 31 December 2024 will be published on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on 25 August
2025. No material impact of the relevant laws and regulations in
relation to environment is identified on business operations.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Please refer to sections headed “Major Suppliers and Customers” and
“Employees and Emolument Policy” in “Directors’ Report”.
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INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has invested in three securities.
The details of, the breakdown and the movement of which during the

year is summarised below:

HERE
R-ZF-ME+-A=+—8 FEECRE=H

& o HF1E - BARFRZEFHANT

% to % to
the Group's  the Group's
Fair value total assets  net assets
At changed At asat asat
%of  1January during 31December 31December 31 December
Principal business No. of share  shareholding 200 Addition Disposal ~ the year 204 204 204
H-B-mE R-Z-RE
R +28 t28
i Bhe ZRBE =t-B =t-B
1 2 AVEE 2R REE GAGE
TEER h#e k&%  -A-A 85 it 28 cr-B EEEE  EERE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$ % %
BT AT BT AT AT
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
LT
Kingkey Financial International () securities brokerage; 115,740,000 172% 57,870,000 - (9516,143)  (48333,3857) - - -
(Holdings) Limited (i) wealth management;
(HK: 1468)ftee and (i) other financial services,
mink farming and trading of
mink's fur skin.
RECRER(ERRRAT  (BHEL: (HMEER: R
(HK: 146872 (iR - KAEER
EENRER -
China Baoli Technologies Holdings (i) mobile and multi-media 1,158,333 1.60% 903,500 - (470.232) (433,268) - - -
Limited (HK: 0164 technologies; (i) gamma ray
radiation services; (i) tourism
and hospitalty business; and
(iv) train medfa.
EENHERRARAT (FH RSB : (i ST
(HK: 0164) RRATRE : (HERAEE
% RiERER -
Listed equity securities - Australia
LTRAEE- BT
Fruge Group Limited (FGLA) Development, marketing and 20,000,000 2.09% 851,200 - - (13.11) 128,089 0.002% 0.002%
customer support of its grocery
comparison
Fruge Group Limited (FGLA) EREHENRS 28R
EP3
Total 4E 59,624,700 - (9,986,375 (49,527,200) 128,089 0.002% 0.002%
2 Included in equity instruments at fair value through other  +# HABRAFEEEFAEMEEWSZBAT A
comprehensive income
Note: PitsE
1. The above listed securities was a significant investment held by the 1. F RS AAEER_ZT_NF+ A

Group as at 31 December 2024. No dividend was received from the

investment during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

These securities investments are categorised as equity instrument at
fair value through other comprehensive income accordingly to HKFRS
Accounting Standards and the Group considers to sell some or all of
these investments when (i) there is a working capital need; (ii) shortfall
of fund to repay the due debts; or (iii) a profitable return is achieved.

Save as disclosed above, no significant securities investments were
made and no dividend was received from the above securities during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

On 30 September 2024, the Group disposed in open market a total
of 11,574,000 Kingkey Financial Shares at an aggregate consideration
of approximately HK$9.5 million (exclusive of transaction costs). The
average selling price (exclusive of transaction costs) for the Disposal of
each Kingkey Financial Share is approximately HK$0.82.

Immediately after the Disposal, the Group ceased to hold any Kingkey
Financial Shares.

For details of the disposal, please refer to the Group’s announcement
dated 30 September 2024.

In September 2024, the Group disposed in open market a total of
1,158,333 China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$470,000 (exclusive of transaction
costs).

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

The Group has no charges on group assets at the end of the reporting
period (2023: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

(1

(2)

(3

Suspension of Trading on the Stock Exchange

Trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited has been suspended with effect from
9:00 a.m. on Tuesday, 2 April 2024 and will remain suspended
pending the fulfillment of the Resumption Guidance as
specified by the Stock Exchange.

Resignation of Auditor

The Company's former auditor, BDO Limited, has tendered its
resignation as the auditor of the Company with effect from
6 May 2024. For details of the resignation of BDO Limited,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6
May 2024.

Resumption Guidance

On 20 June 2024, the Company received a letter from the
Stock Exchange setting out the guidance for the resumption of
trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.
On 30 October 2024, the Company received a letter from
the Stock Exchange, in which the Stock Exchange notifies the
Company to modify one of the guidance for the resumption of
trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.
As a result, the latest resumption guidance (the “Resumption
Guidance”) as at the date of this report is as follows:

(i) Conduct an appropriate independent forensic
investigation into each of the Audit Issues, assess the
impact on the Company’s business operation and
financial position, announce the findings and take
appropriate remedial actions;

(ii) Demonstrating that there is no reasonable regulatory
concern about the integrity, competence and/or
character of the Group’s management and/or any
persons with substantial influence over the Company’s
management and operations, which may pose a risk to
investors and damage market confidence;

(iii) Conducting an independent internal control review
and demonstrating that the Company has in place
adequate internal controls and procedures to comply
with the Listing Rules;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(iv) Publishing all outstanding financial results required
under the Listing Rules and addressing any audit
modifications;

(v) Demonstrating the Company’s compliance with
Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules; and

(vi) Informing the market of all material information for
Shareholders and investors to appraise the Company’s
position.

For details of the Resumption Guidance, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 June 2024 and 4
November 2024.

Progress of Fulfillment of the Resumption Guidance

For quarterly update on status of resumption and the
Company’s resumption plan in fulfilling the Resumption
Guidance, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 24 June 2024, 25 September 2024, 6 January 2025, 26
March 2025 and 27 June 2025.

Appointment of New Auditor

The Company appointed Confucius International CPA Limited
("Confucius”) as the new auditor of the Company with effect
from 6 June 2024 and to hold office until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting of the Company. For
details of the appointment of Confucius, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 June 2024.

Investigation and Independent Control Review

In line with the requirements set out in the Resumption
Guidance, the Independent Investigation Committee has
engaged Frank Forensic and Corporate Recovery Limited to
conduct an independent investigation into the Allegations
as well as other issues that relates to certain Audit Issues.
For key findings of the Investigation, the opinions of
Independent Investigation Committee and the Board, and the
recommendations and their completion status, please refer to
the announcement dated 5 August 2025.
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Further, as previously announced by the Company, it has
engaged Zhonghui Anda Risk Services Limited (the “Internal
Control Consultant”) to conduct an independent review
of the internal control procedures of the Company and all
the subsidiaries identified in the Investigation (the “Internal
Control Review”). Considerable progress has been made.
The Company will publish an announcement in relation to
the key findings of the Internal Control Review, rectification
recommendations and the implementation of remedial actions
in due course.

Save for the matters disclosed above, there were no other important
events affecting the Company nor any of its subsidiaries since the end
of the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

MISCELLANEOUS

Save as disclosed, during the financial year ended 31 December 2024,
there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
entered into by the Group in which any Director or an entity
connected with any Director are or were materially interested, either
directly or indirectly.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai (“Ms. Yiu"), aged 45, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company on 4 October 2023. She obtained a bachelor
of business administration degree from Lingnan University, Hong
Kong and is a full member of CPA Australia. Ms. Yiu has experience
working in a big-four audit firm and public listed companies and has
many years of experience in financial reporting, accounting, finance
and treasury management. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Yiu has
been a regional treasury manager of an international financial services
company, responsible for financial and treasury management.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu (“Ms. Chung”), aged 45, was appointed
as Non-executive Director on 8 August 2024. She obtained a
postgraduate certificate in laws from The University of Hong Kong
in August 2013, a bachelor of laws degree and a graduate diploma
in English and Hong Kong law (common professional examination)
from The Manchester Metropolitan University in July 2011 and
July 2010, and a bachelor of science in computer science degree
from The University of British Columbia in May 2001. Ms. Chung
was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 2016 and is currently
the sole practitioner of CMY Lawyers. Ms. Chung was formerly an
independent non-executive director of MTT Group Holdings Limited
(BRIEEERABR2AR]), a company listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with
stock code 2350.

Ms. Sun Jing (“Ms. Sun”), aged 40, was appointed as Non- executive
Director on 8 August 2024. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in
literature and a bachelor’s degree in economics from Shanghai
University of International Business and Economics (/& ¥ 9ME & A E2)
(formerly known as Shanghai Foreign Trade College (_H/8¥9MNE £
Bt)) in July 2008 and July 2009 respectively, and a master degree in
Commerce (Finance) and a master degree in Professional Accounting
from The University of Sydney in April 2011. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Sun occupied managerial position in a cultural and media
company headquartered in Beijing, the PRC, having experience in
corporate investment, financing and management.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EEkEREEREER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia (“Ms. Tang”), aged 46, was appointed
as Independent Non-executive Director on 1 February 2022. She
graduated from Queen’s University in Canada with a bachelor degree
of Science in Electrical Engineering and Imperial College London
with a master degree of Science in Finance. She has more than 10
years of experiences in audit, finance and banking industries and
was a founder and editor-in chief of a digital media company which
its clientele included some international luxury brands. Ms. Tang is a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of Treasure Markets Association.

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (“Mr. Chan"), aged 59, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director on 31 March 2016. He graduated
from the Hong Kong Baptist University with a bachelor of business
administration (honours) degree in finance in 1990. He completed an
advanced diploma in specialist taxation with the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in December 2012. Mr. Chan is
currently a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute, a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Chan has over 18 years of experience in
accounting, financial management and regulatory compliance of
various industries listed in Hong Kong and Singapore. He was an
independent non-executive director of Royal Century Resources
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8125) from September 2015 to October
2023 and a company secretary of CBK Holding Limited (stock code:
8428) from April 2021 to September 2024. Currently, he is a joint
company secretary of KNT Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1025) and a
joint company secretary of Stream Ideas Group Limited (Stock Code:
8401).
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Mr. Li Chaobo (“Mr. Li”), aged 51, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director on 8 April 2023. He obtained a doctoral
degree of business administration from the Business Institute of
Pennsylvania, a master degree of business administration from Hong
Kong Baptist University and a bachelor’s degree from the Central
South University (7 @ T 2 KX £) in the Department of Automation
and Instrumentation. Mr. Li has experience in management of Hong
Kong listed company. He is presently the chairman, the chief executive
officer and an executive director of China City Infrastructure Group
Limited (R B B RS E AR 2 a]), a company whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code: 2349.

Ms. Yang Wanning (“Ms. Yang”), aged 41, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director on 30 August 2024. She
obtained a Master of Business Administration from the Sun Yat-Sen
University, PRC in 2015. She is a member of Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. She has 15 years of experience
in auditing, accounting, and financial management. Ms. Yang
currently works as the Partner of Beijing Zhongmin Guocheng Public
Accountants LLP (Shenzhen branch). Ms. Yang was formerly an
independent non-executive director of Goldlok Holdings (Guangdong)
Company Limited (stock code: 002348, the shares of which is listed
on the main board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chan Sin Mei, Garfield (“Ms. Chan"), aged 55, is the General
Manager of our recruitment advertising division. She rejoined the
Group in October 2014. Ms. Chan is responsible for the recruitment
and display advertising business of the Group. Ms. Chan has over
25 years of experience in the advertising industry. Ms. Chan was
the Account Director of the Group’s recruitment advertising division
during the period from 9 April 1992 to July 2002. She was the
Associate Sales Director of Career Times Online Limited before joining
the Group.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides
corporate management services. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s businesses comprising analysis of the
Group performance during the year under review using financial
key performance indicators, description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. The
Group is looking for quality investment opportunities on an on-going

basis and will make announcements where appropriate.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 69 to 70.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 73 to 74 and note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 185 of the annual
report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not
purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai
Mr. Chen Jiajun (chairman, resigned on 20 May 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu (appointed on 8 July 2024)
Ms. Sun Jing (appointed on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ma Fei (resigned on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ng Wai Hung (resigned on 8 July 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex

Mr. Li Chaobo (appointed on 8 April 2024)

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and
resigned on 25 October 2024)

Ms. Yang Wanning (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (resigned on 30 August 2024)
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In accordance with No. 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Tang Po
Lam Paulia will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer herself for re-election.

In accordance with No. 83(2) of the Bye-laws, Ms. Chung Anita Mei
Yiu, Ms. Sun Jing, Mr. Li Chaobo, Ms. Yiu Sze Wai and Ms. Yang
Wanning shall hold the office until the next annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the non-executive director has entered into a service
agreement and each of independent non-executive directors has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a specific
term and is subject to termination by either party giving not less than
one to three month(s)’ prior written notice to another.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has any service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO") which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in register referred
to therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The Company maintained a share option scheme during the year. The
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 13 July 2007 (“Old
Scheme”) was terminated on 29 December 2015 and replaced by a
new share option scheme (the “Scheme"”) adopted on the same date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options
to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include, without
limitation, any persons who are employees, officers, agents,
consultants or representatives of the Group. The Scheme became
unconditional upon the Stock Exchange granting on 5 January
2016 the approval of the listing of and the permission to deal in the
shares falling to be issued pursuant to the exercise of any options
to be granted under the Scheme and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, shall remain in for 10 years from the adoption date.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme and the other scheme (if any) in any
12-month’s period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company for the time being. Any further grant of share options to
any eligible participant in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting. The total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
Scheme and the other schemes (if any) must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue (the “10% Limit") as at
29 December 2015, being the date of passing the resolution by the
shareholders at the special general meeting approving and adopting
the Scheme. The Company may seek approval of its shareholders in a
general meeting to refresh the 10% Limit at any time in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and other schemes (if any) shall not
exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in issue from time
to time. The making of an offer to any Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates must be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who or
whose associate is a proposed grantee of the share options).

Directors’ Report
EEEeRE

B

ADNFRERRE —ABRIEHE - ARFR=T
TLELA = AR BRE S (E5a)E
R=F-RE+Z A= HARKIELHAR A
i CHE RS IS

ZAt BB ESARERANEER2EERHBR
& BB SRR SAKREMERR © &R EIZ
BER2EERFE(ETRMAEEZEE - &
RBE - IE - BRERE - K EIFBRAN =
T NF-ARAMAERBITEZEB I RGZ
IR S T 1T 2 L fuE FEERK
REGM - BROFEEHEIUER] - DRIRRA B B
10FRER

PEM121E A BRI - RIRZTEIA RE T2 (20
BIBRTEAERSEE 2 BREN FEHITRN R
SHE T SRBBARRERDEITRAZI% - [
A ERQEEE — SR BB REE > B
B ERENREAE LR - BIBZTEIARE
bzt & (B ) TR 2 FrE BRI TER A T
BITZRD1EE S ETBRBARRNR_E—A
FH+-—AZ+AB(BIREABRRENASEB
o RRMZT B AER 2 B BT’
10% ([10% ER J) o AKX E) A BER 12 88 4R Al
RIRRAE FEKERRIEEFT10% LR o

RITEREZET 8 R E TS (B REAE HAR
TTREMERS FITE 2 A A RERC R R BT 2 D&
HBEEZ T FRBARRFTREETRA30% © [
ERESE ARFAZKDTHRABHLEBER - %
BESB ZEMBBEATIELROBREBE T IFHN
TER(TBRNIKEBEA T ABRE 2 ZE A
BRAZEFABLIFRTES MLE -

TTOEER BRELERAH

21



28

Directors’ Report
EEERE

In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of the offer) in
excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month’s period, are subject
to the shareholders’ approval in a general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant in respect of
less than the number of shares which are offered provided that such
number is clearly stated in the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer duly signed by such eligible participants and received by
the Company together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1.00 (which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer
date). The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations on the offer date; (ii) the average closing price of
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the offer date;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Further detail of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 31 to
the Financial Statements.

SHARE AWARD

On 28 December 2022 (the “Adoption Date"”), the Company has
entered into a trust deed (the “Trust Deed”) with Core Pacific-
Yamaichi International (H.K.) Nominees Limited (the “Trustee”) to
set up a trust for the share award scheme (the “Scheme”) and the
Trustee will exercise its powers to purchase Shares to be held upon
the trust constituted by the Trust Deed (the “Trust”) pursuant to the
rules relating to the Scheme Rules and the Trust Deed. To the best of
knowledge of the Directors, information and belief, after having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Trustee and its ultimate beneficial owners
are independent third parties of the Company and its connected
persons under the definitions of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Scheme, the remuneration committee
of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”) and the Board shall
determine the number of Shares to be purchased by the Trustee out
of cash paid by the Company by way of settlement to the Trustee
(the “Awarded Shares”) awarded by the Board to be awarded to the
employees selected by the Remuneration Committee and the Board
(the "Selected Employees”). Subject to the absolute discretion of the
Board, the Awarded Shares (where the Board has determined such
number pursuant to the terms of the Scheme) shall be acquired by
the Trustee from open market by utilizing the Company’s resources
provided to the Trustee.

The Scheme does not constitute a share option scheme or an
arrangement analogous to a share option scheme for the purpose of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. No Shareholders’ approval is required
to adopt the Scheme.

The purposes of the Scheme are to recognise the contributions by
the Selected Employees and give incentives to them in order to retain
them for the continual operation and development of the Group and
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board
pursuant to the terms of the Scheme, the Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

The Remuneration Committee and the Board shall not make any
further award of Shares which will result in the aggregate number of
Shares awarded by the Board throughout the duration of the Scheme
to be in excess of 5% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the Adoption Date. The maximum aggregate number of the
Awarded Shares which may be awarded to a Selected Employee
under the Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the Adoption Date. As at the date of the Adoption
Date, the number of issued Shares of the Company is 455,534,000
Shares.
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Operation of the Scheme

The Remuneration Committee and the Board may, from time to
time, at their absolute discretion select any Employees (excluding
any Excluded Employee) to participate in the Scheme as a Selected
Employee. Subject to the terms of the Scheme, the Remuneration
Committee and the Board shall determine the number of Awarded
Shares to be awarded to the Selected Employees. The Board is entitled
to impose any conditions as they deem appropriate in their absolute
discretion with respect to the vesting of the Awarded Shares on the
Selected Employees. Where any grant of Awarded Shares is proposed
to be made to Connected Persons of the Company, such grant of
Awarded Shares has to be approved in advance by the Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company. The Company shall comply
with the applicable provisions of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and such Connected Persons and their associates shall abstain from
voting on the relevant general meeting in approving such grant of
Awarded Shares. After the Board has approved any grant of Awarded
Shares, the Board shall as soon as practicable inform the Trustee of,
among others, (a) the identity of the relevant Selected Employee,
and whether the Selected Employee is a Connected Person; (b)
the number of Awarded Shares awarded to the relevant Selected
Employee; (c) the date as determined from time to time by the
Board, on which an Award (or part thereof) is to vest in the relevant
Selected Employee pursuant to the terms of the Scheme (the “Vesting
Date”); (d) conditions, restrictions or limitations (if any) accordingly;
and (e) whether the Awarded Shares or any part thereof should be
purchased.

Termination

The Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of: (a) the 10th anniversary
date of the Adoption Date; and (b) such date of early termination
of the Scheme as determined by the Board provided that such
termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any Selected
Employee.

As at the date of this report, the Board neither granted any awards

nor caused to pay the trustee the trust fund for purchase nor
subscription of Shares.
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Referring the announcement dated 9 August 2024, the Company
does not expect to grant any awards under the Scheme prior to its
expiry on 27 December 2032 and in order to reduce administrative
cost and improve the cashflow position of the Company, the Board
has resolved to terminate the Scheme with effect from 9 August
2024. The Company does not expect the Termination will have any
negative impact to the business and operation of the Company.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following parties (in addition to the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
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Company under section 336 of the SFO: B
Long position in shares of the Company AARRBZHER
Approximate
percentage
in the issued
Number Share Capital
Name Nature of interest of Shares  of the Company
EARAF
ERITRAZ
=% REmME BB EE BREs L
Upsky Global Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 123,037,657 27.55%
SRRFABR AR (KMEET) BEEAA
Champion Ease Group Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 74,000,000 16.57%
ks E AR AR (FHEE2) BEHEBEAA
Polaris Investment Management Limited Beneficial owner 30,248,828 6.77%

(Note 3)
Polaris Investment Management Limited

(PfEE3)
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Notes:

1. Upsky Global Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chen
Jiajun.

2. Champion Ease Group Limited is interested as to 50% by each of Ms.

Zhan Meiging and Mr. Liu Guoliang.

3. Polaris Investment Management Limited is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Liu Gary Wei.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors are
not aware of any persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) have interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the register
of interests required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered into
certain related party transactions. Details of which were disclosed in
Note 35 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group. Each
of these transactions constitutes connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, was less than HK$3,000,000 and all the
applicable percentage ratios calculated in accordance with Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules were less than 5%. Thus, these transactions
constitute de minimis transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules and is fully exempt from the requirement of reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval.

Saved as the above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Group has not entered into any connected transactions or continuing
connected transaction for the year which are required to disclose
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has the
internal controls in place to ensure that the terms of all connected or
continuing connected transactions, if any, are fair and reasonable and
in the interest of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The top five suppliers in aggregate and the single largest supplier of
the Group accounted for approximately 50% and 17% of the Group’s
total purchases for the year ended 31 December 2024 respectively.

The top five customers in aggregate and the single largest customer
of the Group accounted for approximately 19% and 6% of the
Group's total sales for the year ended 31 December 2024 respectively.

At no time during the year did a Director, an associate of a Director,
within the meaning of the Listing Rules, or a shareholder of the
Company which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital have any interest in the Group’s
five largest suppliers and five largest customers.

Key Relationships with Customers and Suppliers

The Group highly values the relationships with employees, customers
and suppliers as they are the foundation of the Group's success.

Customers

The Group provides direct services/goods to customers and conduct
surveys to interact with them to gain market insights and feedback.
The Group allows a credit period from 3 to 120 days (2023: 3 to 120
days) to its customers. The Group also continuously evaluates the
credit risk of its customers to ensure appropriateness of the amount
of credit granted. Credit terms are extended to customers based
on the evaluation of individual customer’s financial conditions. No
significant recoverability problem is identified subsequent to the
reporting period.

Suppliers

The Group has either long established suppliers or suppliers from well-
known enterprises to ensure that they are able to deliver the goods/
services as requested. Furthermore, the Company has formulated anti-
bribery policies for all staff to comply.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT

A review of the Group's future prospect and development are set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. In the meantime, we will still grab every opportunity
to develop the business. Furthermore, we will also keep sourcing any
business opportunities suitable to us.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, no Directors have involved in competing
business or have interests in companies engaging in competing
business with the Group.

INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

As far as the Directors are aware, at no time during the year had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholders
or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contracts of significance
or any contracts of significance for the provision of services by the
Directors or controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company and any of its
subsidiaries of the Company and its associated corporations a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive or any
of their spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the date
of this annual report, based on information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company maintained a sufficient prescribed
public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation
to the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 37 to 62 of the annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND COMPLIANCE
WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company on 25 August 2025. No material impact of the relevant laws
and regulations in relation to environment is identified on business
operations.
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EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 41 employees (2023: 39).
The pay scale of the Group’s employees is maintained at a competitive
level and employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis
within the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus
system. Other employees’ benefits include provident fund, insurance
and medical cover. The emoluments of the Directors are monitored
by the Board and the Remuneration Committee having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

Key relationship with employees

The Company strictly complies with all the applicable rules
and regulations in relation to employment, to name a few, the
Employment Ordinance, Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance and
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, etc. The Group has purchased
all necessary insurance and made monthly contributions for its staff
and has measures in place endeavored to protect all staff’s personal
information. There are channels for staff to express their opinions
with regard to their work. Moreover, the Group also strives to provide
a safe, healthy and harmonious workplace with fair and equal
opportunities for staff of both genders.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited resigned as auditor of the Company on 7 May 2024.
Confucius International CPA Limited was appointed as auditor
of the Company on 6 June 2024. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 June 2024. Save as disclosed
above, there was no change in auditor during the past three
years. The Financial Statements have been audited by Confucius
International CPA Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer
itself for reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yiu Sze Wai
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 6 August 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group has adopted practices which meet the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report for the year
(the “Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The report describes
its corporate governance practices, explains the applications of
the principles of the Code and deviations, if any. In the opinion of
the Directors, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code regarding
securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its major subsidiaries include provision of
advertising services, sales of medical and health products, provision
of E-commerce services and investment holding. With diversified
businesses, by recognizing the importance of stakeholders at the
Board level and throughout the Group, we strive to provide high
quality and reliable products and services, and to create values
to the stakeholders through sustainable growth and continuous
development.

The Board has set the following values to provide guidance on
employees’ conduct and behaviors as well as the business activities,
and to ensure they are embedded throughout the Company’s vision,
mission, policies and business strategies:

Integrity: do the right things;

Excellence: deliver our products and services excellence;

o Collaboration: work better together;

° Accountability: accountable for our commitments;
o Empathy: care about our stakeholders; and

o Sustainability: commit to a sustainable future.
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The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, its
business strategies and keep track of the changing market conditions
to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken to respond to
the changes and meet the market needs to foster the sustainability of
the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, of whom one is
an Executive Director, two are Non-executive Directors and four
are Independent Non-executive Directors. The Board has in its
composition a balance of skills and experience necessary for decision
making and fulfilling its business needs. The participation of non-
executive Directors in the Board brings independent judgement
on issues relating to the Group’ strategy, performance, conflicts of
interest and management process to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The Board considers that all of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent and has received from each of them the
annual confirmation of independence by the Listing Rules.

The Board members during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai
Mr. Chen Jiajun (chairman, resigned on 20 May 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu (appointed on 8 July 2024)
Ms. Sun Jing (appointed on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ma Fei (resigned on 8 July 2024)

Mr. Ng Wai Hung (resigned on 8 July 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex

Mr. Li Chaobo (appointed on 8 April 2024)

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and resigned on
25 October 2024)

Ms. Yang Wanning (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (resigned on 30 August 2024)
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Pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, Mr. Li Chaobo and
Wong Kwok Kuen have obtained the legal advice on 8 April 2024. Ms.
Chung Anita Mei Yiu and Ms. Sun Jing have obtained the legal advice
on 8 July 2024. Ms. Yang Wanning has obtained the legal advice on
21 August 2024.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the next
following general meeting after appointment.

Independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of three
years. For a Director to be considered independent, the Board must
determine the Director does not have any direct or indirect material
relationship with the Group. In determining the independence of the
Directors, the Board follows the requirements set out in the Listing
Rules.

The Board is responsible for the approval and monitoring of
the Group’s overall strategies and policies; approval of business
plans; evaluating the performance of the Group and oversight of
management. It is also responsible for promoting the success of
the Company and its businesses by directing and supervising the
Company's affairs.

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular
attention paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group.
The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to Executive
Directors and senior management of every business segment, while
reserving certain key matters for its approval.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the management
through Executive Directors who have attended Board meetings.

The Company had arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors and officers of the Group for indemnifying their liabilities
arising from corporate activities.

During the year, all Directors have been provided, on a monthly basis,
with the Group’s management information updates to give them
aware of the Group's affairs and facilitates them to discharge their
duties under the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.
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The Group has established following mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board and these
mechanisms will be reviewed annually.

Number of Independent Non-executive Directors and
their contribution

Up to the date of this report:

(i) Four out of seven Directors are Independent Non-executive
Directors, which exceeds the requirement of the Listing Rules
that at least one-third of the Board are independent non-
executive directors.

(i) The composition of the Board should provide a sufficient
balance of skill, experience and diversity of perspectives in
leading the Company to achieve its goal.

(iii) Executive Director will meet with the Independent Non-
executive Directors at least annually.

(iv) Executive Director should at least annually hold meetings with
the Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors.

(v) If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the
Board has determined to be material, the matter should be
dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than a written
resolution. Independent Non-executive Directors who, and
whose close associates, have no material interest in the
transaction should be present at that Board meeting.

Appointment and Independence of Non-executive
Directors

(i) Nomination Committee will assess the independence of a
candidate who is nominated to be a new Independent Non-
executive Director before appointment and the continued
independence of the current long-serving Independent Non-
executive Director, if any, on an annual basis. All Independent
Non-executive Directors are required to submit a written
confirmation to the Company annually to confirm the
independence of each of them and their immediate family
members, and their compliance with the requirements as set
out in the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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(ii) When all of the Independent Non-executive Director have
served more than nine years on the Board,

a. the Nomination Committee will nominate, and the
Company will appoint, a new Independent Non-
Executive Director on the Board at the forthcoming
annual general meeting; or

b. such Independent Non-executive Directors’ further
appointments should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders, with
papers accompanying to that resolution including the
factors considered, the process and discussion of the
Nomination Committee in arriving at the determination
that such Independent Non-executive Directors are still
independent and should be re-elected.

(iii) A Director (including Independent Non-executive Director)
who has material interest in any contract, transaction or
arrangement shall abstain from voting and not be counted in
the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

(iv) No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will be granted to Independent Non-executive
Directors.

Term of Appointment of Non-executive Directors

Each of the non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a specific term of three years,
automatically renewable upon expiration, and is subject to retirement
by rotation at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years and being eligible, offer himself/herself for re-election pursuant
to the Company'’s Bye-laws.

Channels where independent views are available

All Directors are entitled to retain independent professional advisors as
and when it is required and at the Company'’s expense in appropriate
circumstances.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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Board meetings where independent views are expressed

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Board should meet regularly and Board meetings should
be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board meeting
is given to all Directors to provide them with an opportunity
to attend and all Directors are given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For all other
Board meetings, reasonable notice should be given.

Board papers are usually dispatched to the directors at least
three days before the meeting to ensure that Directors have
sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately
prepared for the meeting.

Directors unable to attend a meeting are advised of the
matters to be discussed and are given an opportunity to
make their views known to the Executive Director prior to the
meeting.

All Directors are encouraged to express their views in an open
and candid manner during the Board/Board Committees
meetings.

Independent Non-executive Directors and other Non-
executive Directors should make a positive contribution to the
development of the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments.
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There were 17 Board meetings and one annual general meeting R -ZE - MEERTI7IAEETSSH N —NBRE
("AGM") but nil special general meetings held in 2024. Details of the BEFEAZ([RRAFAE]) « HRL EFEBERES
attendance of each director are as follows: REg o FEFZHERFBEMOT ¢
Attended/Held
HERY, A

Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration

Committee Committee Committee
Board meetings meetings meetings meetings AGM

Directors Bz ES28E ENZESSE REZESS8E FMZESEE REEEAE

Chen Jiajun R & 6/6 N/A 2 N/A 0/0
(resigned on 20 May 2024) (R=Z-mFRA-THET) TER TER

Yiu Sze Wai HhEZ 1717 33 N/A N/A 0/0

Naf TNEH
Ma Fei (resigned on 8 July 2024)  BR(R=ZT=—MF+ANB 8/9 8/8 N/A N/A 0/0
BHE) ER TR

Ng Wai Hung si‘ﬁfz& 8/9 N/A N/A 1N 0/0
(resigned on 8 July 2024) (RZBZEELANART) TER TR

Chung Anita Mei Yiu (appointed ﬁ%}%m: TZMELANR 99 N/A N/A 17N N/A
on 8 July 2024) Z%é&) ek EA TEA

Sun Jing (appointed on FER-Z-mELANR 9/9 N/A N/A N/A N/A
8 July 2024) BZA) ~aR NEf NER TEm

Tang Po Lam Paulia HEH 1717 N/A N/A 0/0 0/0

TR TEA

Chan Chiu Hung, Alex FR e 1717 1M 4/4 11 0/0

Chai Chung Wai (resigned on BRR(R-ZZ_MFNA 1011 10/10 33 20 0/0
30 August 2024) ZTAET)

Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on ~ TEIE(R=Z=MNFMANR 9/10 6/8 2 0 N/A
8 April 2024 and resigned on EZATR-_Z-NFTA T
24 October 2024) Z+mAET)

Li Chaobo (appointed on FHR(M-T-RFNANR 1213 2 2 20 N/A
8 April 2024) BEA) TEA

Yang Wanning (appointed on BRERZE-NFENA 6/6 171 N/A N/A N/A
30 August 2024) =T HEZMA) Naf NEf TEm

ERRCHBARWMERFLAIHESTERN -
EEGNEHEREHER - WA AZREH
NAWMEZERERY - WARKRFERSK
Company Secretary, and has the right to seek external professional INREEER -

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for ZE=
inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have &%
access to materials and has unrestricted access to the advice and the 1%

advice if so required.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities have
been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the Group from
their risk exposure arising from the business of the Group.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors were responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Directors’ responsibilities for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements and the auditor’s responsibilities are set out in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

INTERNAL AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management system and internal control system and reviewing their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such risk management system
and internal control system are designed for managing instead of
eliminating the risks of failing to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Group has complied with principle
D.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is responsible
for the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems,
while the Board oversees management in performing its duties on an
ongoing basis. An independent review on the internal control and risk
management systems would be conducted on an annual basis. Main
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
described as follows:

Risk management system

The Group has adopted a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.
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o Evaluation: analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the
residual risks.

Internal control system

The Board has overall responsibility for the internal controls of the
Company. The Board is committed to implementing an effective
and sound internal control system to safeguard the interest of the
shareholders and the Group’s assets. The implementation enables the
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

The internal control system includes safeqguard of the interest of
shareholders and the Group’s assets. The Board has delegated
to management for the implementation of all relevant financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management function
within a defined framework.

Internal audit

The Group does not have a formal internal audit function but retains
an independent professional risk management and internal control
consultant to conduct the risk management and internal control
review annually. The Board is of the view that in light of the scale
and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more cost
effective to appoint an external professional consultant to perform
the Group's internal audit function in order to meet its needs. It will
continue to review on an annual basis the need for an internal audit
function.

According to the established plan, review of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted annually and the results are
reported to the Board via Audit Committee afterwards. This could
ensure the internal control system is effective.
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Discloseable and inside information

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination
of discloseable and inside information in a timely manner in such a
way so as not to place any person in a privileged dealing position
and to allow time for the market to price the listed securities of
the Company with the latest available information. Dissemination
of discloseable and inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

Effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board has conducted an annual review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the year by considering written reports prepared by
the independent internal control consultant, covering the material
financial, operational and compliance controls. The independent
internal control consultant set out certain deficiencies for rectification
and improvement of the system effectiveness. The deficiencies were
noted and agreed by the Board. The Company will continue to review
and adopt necessary policies and procedures in order to improve the
system effectiveness. The Audit Committee has annually reviewed the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience, training and
budget of the accounting, financial reporting functions, as well as
ESG performance and reporting.

As disclosed in “Management Discussion and Analysis — Other
Significant Events” in this report, the Company has engaged an
independent internal control consultant to conduct an independent
review of the internal control procedures of the Company and
all major subsidiaries. Considerable progress has been made. The
Company will publish an announcement in relation to the key findings
of the internal control review, rectification recommendations and the
implementation of remedial actions in due course.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Currently, the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer have
been vacant but the Executive Director performs similar function as
Chief Executive Officer. Besides, the Board directly, and indirectly
through its committees, leads and provides direction to management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation by
management. The Board monitors the Group’s operating and financial
performance and ensures that effective governance and corporate
social responsibility and policies and sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place. As such, the Board considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are comparable to those in the Code
Provision.
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PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Every newly appointed Director will be given an induction training so as
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Group’s
business and his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. The Group
continuously updates Directors on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. Circulars or guidance notes are issued to
Directors and senior management where appropriate, to ensure
awareness of best corporate governance practices.

The Company also provides regular updates on the business
development of the Group. The Directors are regularly briefed
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep
of good corporate governance practices. In addition, the Company
has been encouraging the Directors to enroll in professional
development courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules,
Companies Ordinance and corporate governance practices organized
by professional bodies chambers in Hong Kong. All directors are
requested to provide the Company with their respective training
records pursuant to the Code.

All Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development and refresh their knowledge and skills during the year.
Such professional development was completed either by way of
attending briefings, conference, forum, courses and seminars and
self-reading which are relevant to the business or directors’ duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has delegated the Group’s corporate governance functions
to Audit Committee. The principal functions include:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(©) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Chan Chun Kau,
the representative of Lawrence Chan & Co., resigned on 1 August
2024. Ms. Ho Pui Ling Elaine (“Ms. Ho"), being a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow Associate Member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, was appointed as the named Company Secretary since

1 August 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary at all time in
accordance with Code Provision C.6.4 of Part 2 of the CG Code,
and Ms. Ho had taken no less than 15 hours of professional training
during the year pursuant to the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in April 2000. Up to the
latest practicable date prior to the publication of this annual report,
the Audit Committee comprises four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Yang Wanning (Chairlady), Mr. Chan Chiu
Hung, Alex and Mr. Li Chaobo.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, which are in
compliance with the Listing Rules, are posted on the Company’s
website. Under the terms of reference, the Audit Committee is
mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such
auditor; overseeing the Group’s financial report, internal control and
risk management systems.

The Audit Committee held eleven meetings in 2024.
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During the year, the Audit Committee met with senior management
to review the Group’s draft annual report and accounts, half-yearly
report, internal audit report, risk assessment report and circulars, and
provided advice and comments thereon to the Company’s Board of
Directors. The Audit Committee members met with external auditor
to discuss matters arising from the audit. The Audit Committee also
discussed with the external auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations before the audit commenced.

The Group’s 2024 interim report and 2023 annual report have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that such
reports were prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements. For the 2023 annual report, the Audit
Committee met with the external auditor to discuss auditing, internal
control, statutory compliance and financial reporting matters before
recommending it to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee
also monitored the Company’s progress in implementing the code
provisions on corporate governance practices as required under the
Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Up to the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this annual
report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three Independent
Non-executive Directors and one Non-executive Director, namely Ms.
Yang Wanning (Chairlady), Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia, Mr. Li Chaobo
and Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted
on the Company’s website. The principal functions include:

- to recommend to the Board on the Company’s policies and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group;

- to determine the remuneration packages of all Executive
Directors and senior management of the Group; and

- to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time.
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The principal elements of executive remuneration package include
basic salary, discretionary bonus and share option. The emoluments
of Executive Directors are based on skill, knowledge and involvement
in the Company’s affairs of each Director and are determined by
reference to the Company’s performance and profitability, as well
as remuneration benchmark the industry and the prevailing market
conditions.

During the year, a meeting with 100% attendance of the
Remuneration Committee’s members at that time was duly held for
reviewing the remuneration policy and structure and determination of
the annual remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the
senior executives and other related matters.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

HNER

Remuneration band

HITABZHMAES 2 T ERNERERTE B
BIEALRELRE - WTEECHERREBUESRY
et - MBRB2EARREBZIEE  YBRAR
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100% M IEA &% - AR st BRI - 1B
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HibHEEE -

SREBAEEBE-_ZE-_NME+-_A=+—HI1LF

B2 F IR H SRS T

No. of individuals

AE

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Up to the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this annual
report, the Nomination Committee of the Company was established
in March 2012 comprising the three Independent Non-executive
Directors and one Non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Li Chaobo
(Chairman), Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex and Ms. Yang Wanning. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on the
Company’s website.

The roles and functions the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (in terms of gender, skills and
experience) of the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Directors, selecting or making recommendations to the Board
on nominations, appointment or reappointment of Directors and
Board succession, and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive directors.

During the year, a meeting with 100% attendance of the Nomination
Committee’s members at that time was duly held for reviewing
the structure, size and composition (in terms of gender, skills and
experience), and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive directors of the board of directors.
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Currently, the Board comprises seven members, of whom one is
Executive Director, two are Non-executive Directors and the remaining
four are Independence Non-executive Directors. The current Board
comprises individuals who are professionals with investment,
accounting, financial, general management and legal backgrounds.

The Board places emphasis on diversity (including gender diversity)
across all levels of the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Company maintained an effective Board comprising members of
different genders, professional background and industry experience.
The Company'’s board diversity policy was consistently implemented.
Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
to be published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company on 25 August 2025. The Board considers that the
gender diversity in workforce is currently achieved.

The board diversity policy was annually reviewed by the Nomination
Committee and the Board respectively.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board periodically and make recommendation on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.

When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an additional
director, the Nomination Committee identifies or selects candidates
pursuant to the skills, knowledge and experience required by
the Board. Based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee, the Board deliberates and decides on the appointment.
In addition, every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
or re-election at least once every three years and shall be eligible for
re-election at each annual general meeting. The Nomination
Committee shall review the overall contribution and service to the
Company, expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring
directors, who offered himself/herself for re-election at the annual
general meeting, to determine whether such director continues to
meet the criteria required by the Board.
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SETTING UP OF INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION
COMMITTEE

In October 2024, the Board set up an independent investigation
committee (the “lIC") to undertake the investigation on the matters
pertaining to the Allegations, the Transactions under Litigation, KK
Wecheck, Hopeful Top and Aurora (the “Subject Matters”). The IIC
was comprised of non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors who are independent from the Subject Matters
and have joined the Company after the financial year ended 31
December 2023, namely Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu, Ms. Sun Jing, Mr.
Li Chaobo and Ms. Yang Wanning, and was empowered to, among
others, retain independent third party professional institutions to assist
the review on the Subject Matter.

An independent forensic investigator was appointed by the IIC to
perform an investigation on the relevant matters and report its
findings to the IIC based on its investigation results. In July 2025, the
independent forensic investigator finalised and presented the final
version of the investigation report to IIC, and the IIC reviewed the
investigation report and provided its recommendations to the Board.
The Board concurred with the investigation report and the I1IC’s
recommendations for prompt implementation.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 5 August 2025.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION
MECHANISM

The Company has adopted the board independence evaluation
mechanism. The details are as follows:

Objective

Continuing improvement and development of the Board and its
committee processes and procedures through Board independence
evaluation provides a powerful and valuable feedback mechanism for
improving Board effectiveness, maximising strengths, and identifying
the areas that need improvement or further development.

The evaluation process also clarifies what actions of the Company
need to be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance,
for instance, addressing individual training and development needs of
each Director.
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This mechanism is designed to ensure a strong independent

element on the Board, which allows the Board to effectively exercise

independent judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

Mechanism

(a

Nomination Committee is established with clear terms
of reference to identify suitable candidates, including
independent non-executive Directors, for appointment as
Directors.

Nomination policy is in place with details of the process and
criteria of identifying, selecting, recommending, cultivating
and integrating new directorship.

For independent non-executive Directors (“INED(s)"):

(i) Every INED is required to confirm in writing to
the Company his/her independence upon his/her
appointment as Director with reference to such criteria
as stipulated in the nomination policy as well as the
Listing Rules;

(i) Each INED has to declare his/her past or present
financial or other interests in the Group’s business as
soon as practicable, or his/her connection with any of
the Company’s connected persons (as defined in the
Listing Rules), if any; and

(iii) Each INED is required to inform the Company as
soon as practicable if there is any change in his/
her own personal particulars that may affect his/her
independence.

The Nomination Committee will assess annually the
independence of all INEDs and to affirm if each of them still
satisfies the criteria of independence as set out in the Listing
Rules and is free from any relationships and circumstances
which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, their
independent judgement. Every Nomination Committee
member should abstain from assessing his/her own
independence.
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Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an INED at the general meeting, it will set out in the circular to
Shareholders the reasons it believes he/she should be elected
and the reasons it considers him/her to be independent.

A mechanism is in place for Directors to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense.

Directors are encouraged to access and consult with the
Company’s senior management independently, if necessary.

The Board Independence Evaluation may take in the form
of a questionnaire to all Directors individually and may be
supplemented by individual interview with each Director,
if necessary, and/or in any other manners which the Board
considers fit and necessary.

The Board Independence Evaluation report will be presented
to the Board which will collectively discuss the results and the
action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

The results of the Board Independence Evaluation or a
summary of the findings of the said evaluation will be
disclosed in the CG Report contained in the annual report of
the Company or on the Company’s website for accountability
and transparency purposes.

The aforesaid Board Independence Evaluation will be regarded
as an ongoing exercise of the Company while the Company
may seek assistance from external consultant if an external
evaluation on the same subject is needed.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this
report, the Board Independence Evaluation had been conducted by

way of completing a questionnaire by all Directors. The results of the

Board Independence Evaluation are summarised as follows:

The Board as a whole possessed the skills and range
of experience needed to adequately fulfill its fiduciary
responsibilities, more reliably hold management to account,
and better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.
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2. Board meetings were conducted in a manner that allowed
open communication, meaningful participation (including
in-depth discussion and resolutions of issues).

3. All' INEDs brought independent judgement to bear on the
Board'’s deliberations.

4. All INEDs have actively participated in all Board meetings and
Board Committees’ meetings; and raised governance and
ethical issues to the Board.

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the importance of having a
diverse Board, that increasing diversity at the Board level will support
the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development. Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company
seeks to achieve the Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, length of service and any other factors that the Board
may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. All Directors
appointment will be based on applicable merits and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee shall
review the Board Diversity Policy and make recommendations to
the Board on amendments to the Board diversity policy (if any) as
appropriate, which will include an assessment of the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board diversity policy on an annual basis
in accordance with code provision B.1 of the CG Code. The Board
Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company for public
information.

The Board currently have five female directors. We achieved an
appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to the
Shareholders’ expectation and international and local recommended
best practices. We will also ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and we are committed to
providing career development opportunities for female staff so that
we will have a pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to our Board in near future.
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WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.3 of the CG Code, the Board
adopted a whistle-blowing policy. It provides employees and the
relevant third parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers, and
suppliers) with guidance and reporting channels on reporting any
suspected improprieties in any matters related to the Group directly
addressed to the Audit Committee and designated person. An email
account (whistleblowing@allegroculture.com.hk) has been set up for
this purpose. All reported matters will be investigated independently
and, in the meantime, all information received from a whistle-blower
and its identity will be kept confidential.

The Board and the Audit Committee will regularly review the whistle-
blowing policy and mechanism to improve its effectiveness.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with the code provision D.2.4 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy. It outlines
guidelines and the minimum standards of conducts, all applicable laws
and regulations in relation to the anti-corruption and anti-bribery, the
responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to help the Group defend
against corrupt practices and to report any reasonably suspected case
of fraud and corruption or any attempts thereof, to the management
or through an appropriate reporting channel. The Group would
not tolerate all forms of fraud and corruption among all employees
and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the
Group, and in its business dealing with third parties.

The Board and the Audit Committee will review the anti-fraud
and anti-corruption policy and mechanism periodically to ensure
its effectiveness and enforce the commitment of the Group to the
prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of
fraud and corruption.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration provided and paid to the Company’s current
external auditors, Confucius International CPA Limited, was
approximately HK$800,000 for audit services for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and in presenting the interim and
annual financial statements, and announcements to the shareholders
of the Company. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgements
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.

MANAGEMENT’S POSITION AND ASSESSMENT
ON THE DISCLAIMER OPINION

As disclosed in this report, the auditor of the Company Confucius
International CPA Limited, issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 in relation to (i) the limitation of scope concerning
interest in associate; (i) the opening balances and corresponding
figures; and (iii) the gain or loss on disposal of subsidiaries.

The Company has discussed with auditor of the Company for actions
taken.

Firstly, regarding the limitation of scope concerning the interest in
an associate, namely Aurora, the auditor was unable to obtain the
audited accounts so as to ascertain, among others, the Group’s
share of results, determine any impairment loss, and determine
any misclassification of such investment. To remedy this audit
modification, the management made considerable efforts to dispose
the relevant assets relating to the associate company. Following the
completion of disposal of the Group’s entire interest in Aurora in May
2025, the Group is no longer holding any interest in Aurora and thus
will not have any impact on the Group’s financial position as at 31
December 2025. Therefore, the auditor confirmed that this basis for
modification (concerning interest in associate) will to be removed in
the year ended 31 December 2025.
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However, since the disposal was taken place during the year ending
31 December 2025, a modification concerning (i) the share results of
the associate for the period prior to the disposal, and (i) the respective
gain or loss from the disposal, will still be present for the year ending
31 December 2025. Having said that, if there is no material change on
the current facts and circumstances, the auditor confirmed that this
audit modification (regarding the share results and the gain or loss on
disposal) will be removed in the year ending 31 December 2026.

Secondly, regarding the opening balances and corresponding figures
mainly caused by three bases for modification expressed in year 2023,
namely (i) the deconsolidation of subsidiary, (i) the interest in associate,
and (iii) the revenue, cost of sale and impairment on trade receivables.
Having considered the actions taken by the management, including
but not limited to the disposal of subsidiaries and the disposal of
associate company, the auditor confirmed that all of these three bases
of modification will be removed in year ending 31 December 2026.
For further details, please refer to “Corporate Governance Report —
Management’s position and assessment on the disclaimer opinion” in
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023.
However, the opening balances and corresponding figures in year
ending 31 December 2026 will indeed be the financial statement as
at 31 December 2025 (which is the financial year that the Company
completed disposal of Aurora) and thus this modification (concerning
the opening figures) will still be expected in year ending 31 December
2026. Having said that, if there is no material change on the current
facts and circumstances, the auditor confirmed that this modification
will be completely removed in the year ending 31 December 2027.

Thirdly, regarding the gain or loss on disposal of subsidiaries (including
KK Wecheck and Hopeful Top), the amounts were recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2024, and has no impact on the Group's
financial position as at 31 December 2024. As such, the auditor
confirmed that this modification will be removed in the year ended 31
December 2025.

In light of the above, all underlying issues leading to the audit
modifications have been fully resolved, and the auditor concurred with
the management that, these matters will not have any continuing
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ending 31 December 2027 and the subsequent years.

ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED Annual Report 2024

R BRHERBE_E_AFE+_A=1+—H
IEFEEE - BREGOBE QRN D SR EAREG
& R()E B EBREIEEBMESITERE
EZE-RF+ AT HIEFENATE - &
Bt MEMEERBELESKES - A

R WEERSET(BBEGEERDEKE
EBR)EREBEE S "F+-_A=1+—HLFE
B o

HR BREVEZESREAEST  TZHR=Z
T EFREMZIEERTEEBNOBUEN B A al4R
AAE (NE QAR Rii)E 2 EURIER
Was - SHEARBME) I - £EREEEMK
BHTE(BFEETRALERB AR R L EHE
NA)  HBEER - ZE - HSTTREERE
BT RNFTZA=T—HIFEVK - BEE#
—SHE  BAMARREBE_TEZ=F1+=A
ST —RUEFEZERIIPRERHE —EHE
BRTHXELZBH RG] - A - BEZE
ZARFTZ AT —HIEFERN V&R KRS
FERERZZE-AF+A=1T—HBEIAEARH
TERKHE BRI M IR E) M Bk - Bt
B (ERBVET)NEARBE-S - ~F
TZA=T—RALEERE - BEW - WERE
ERERNEEREE - ZBAER - 2B
REE-_Z-_+F+-_A=Z+—BHLEFEXE®¥
B o

FE= BARLHENBRR(RIERERERSH)H
Wk EiE  ZeBe R E2-T-NF+= A
=+—RAULEERR BUAEER T -maE
TZA=+—HOFBERR T EE - Fitt - %8
MERZBEEREBE—E-_AF+=-A=1+—
HIEFERBE -

SR LAl - SRESHESIT M ARERESE
TRER  ZEMRAEEEEBNER  ZSFEG
TeHAEBHE T _+HE+_A=+—HILF
EREEFENGREMBRREETARETE -



Corporate Governance Report

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW ON THE DISCLAIMER
OPINION

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the facts and
circumstances leading to the disclaimer opinion, discussed with
the auditor and the management of the Company regarding each
of the bases for disclaimer opinion, and taken into account the
Board’s response, actions taken and measures implemented to
resolve the disclaimer opinion. Based on the actions taken and the
measures implemented by the management to address each of the
bases of disclaimer opinion, the Audit Committee agreed with the
management position as detailed above, and concurred with the
view of the management that the bases for disclaimer have been fully
addressed and resolved.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy in
March 2012 reflecting mostly the current practices of the Company
for communication with its shareholders. This policy will be reviewed
annually to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing
regulatory and other requirements.

Information will be communicated to shareholders through:

- continuous disclosure to the Stock Exchange of all material
information;

- periodic disclosure through the annual and interim reports;
- notices of meetings and explanatory material;

- the annual general meetings and other general meetings; and

the Company’s website at www.allegroculture.com.hk

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, use annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage
their participation. Most of the Board members including the
Executive Director attended the annual general meeting held in 2023
to answer questions and collect views of shareholders, if any. The
chairmen of the Audit and Nomination Committees and the external
auditor also attended the annual general meeting to answer questions
of shareholders.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and
engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders’
Communication Policy has been properly in place and is effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

0]

Procedures for members to convene a special
general meeting (“SGM")

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition sent to
the Company'’s registered office in Bermuda and its principal
place of business in Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary, to require a SGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the shareholders concerned themselves may
do so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of
the Companies Act, but any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the general
meeting, signed by the shareholders concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one
or more of those shareholders.

If the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the
registered members. On the contrary, if the requisition is
invalid, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as
requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered members
for consideration of the proposal raised by the shareholders
concerned at SGM varies according to the nature of the
proposal, as follows:

- at least twenty-one clear days’ and not less than ten
clear business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes a special resolution of the Company,
which cannot be amended other than a mere clerical
amendment to correct a patent error; and
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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- at least fourteen clear days’ and not less than ten
clear business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company.

Procedures for a member to propose a person for
election as a director

As regards the procedures for proposing a person for election
as a Director, please refer to the procedures made available
under the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s
website at www.allegroculture.com.hk.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
info@allegroculture.com.hk for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a
general meeting

Shareholders holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all shareholders having the right to vote
at the general meeting of the Company; or (ii) not less than
100 shareholders, can submit a written request stating the
resolution intended to be moved at the AGM; or a statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting.

The written request/statements must be signed by the
shareholders concern and deposited at the Company’s
registered office in Bermuda and its principal place of business
in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary of
the Company, not less than six weeks before the AGM in the
case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not
less than one week before the general meeting in the case of
any other requisition.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board (i) to include the resolution in the agenda for the
AGM,; or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the shareholders concerned have deposited a
sum of money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of
the resolution and/or circulating the statement submitted by
the shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered members. On the contrary,
if the requisition is invalid or the shareholders concerned have
failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s
expenses for the said purposes, the shareholders concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed
resolution will not be included in the agenda for the AGM; or
the statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

According to the resolutions at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 2 June 2022 and the authorisation granted in the
resolutions regarding the amendments to the Company’s Bye-laws
and the adoption to an amended and restated the Company’s Bye-
laws in order to update and bring the bye-laws in line with the latest
legal and regulatory requirements. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 12 April 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company is committed to sharing the results with Shareholders
while striking a balance of continuous development of its business.
Given the current financial condition, the possible financial resources
needed for business development, the Company does not have a
concrete dividend policy. It will be disclosed in later annual report
when such condition exists.
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B A% BEN R &

SAN-CHIVA N
REBEBR TGN FIHAAARS
Confucius International CPA Limited Certified Public Accountants
BRBFELTIE181RAREAE1511501-08%
Rooms 1501-08, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
EEE Tel: (852) 3103 6980
{8 H Fax: (852) 3104 0170
BT Email: info@pccpa.hk
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED FEEIERATRE
(incorporated in Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with — (REISZE ML T RN EEZEEELL T HIR
limited liability) A7),
DISCLAIMER OF OPINION FERE

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of — ZNAZEEI (A TESTBI BMf9 ) E X B ERNE
Allegro Culture Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the  69& 184B BN AR AT ([EA T ) REKE
Group”) set out on pages 69 to 184, which comprise the consolidated A& (B[ S EE | M4EE BBHRE - IhiFa I
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the #FEBIFNR-_Z_NFE+=—A=+—BNEEHE
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive  ARR&REEZZ B FFEEHNGEA B R EMEEK
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated %% « &SRS RGN ERES  URE
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the A EEHREM T (BIEFB@HBELR) -
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting

policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial #H&fiEx%E SEEEE T _NF+_A=+—
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. HIFFENGAMEHRERBLRER - ARFHMIHR
Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for &[N BEXRER 2 EM | —SiiEENEEM
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able  F{FIRpEFZZLR A MIGHRERERE #iE S NEZ
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for & AEiz = BIRHER - A HM T E - B
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all ~ RALRAPEHRERDEBE LR EHINEEER
other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements & &R -

have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

—EomEsR AEXCERAT D3
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1.

Limitation of Scope Concerning Interest in
Associate

The Group have acquired 45% interest in an associate, namely
Aurora Medical Technology (HK) Corp. Limited (“Aurora”) for
approximately HK$16.04 million on April 2023. Although the
investment agreement granted the Group the right to appoint
directors to Aurora’s board, the Group failed to exercise this
right during the reporting period. Consequently, there is
insufficient evidence to demonstrate that the Group exercises
significant influence over Aurora, calling into question the
appropriateness of classifying Aurora as an associate under
HKAS 28.

As explained in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements and based on the findings in the forensic
investigation prepared by an independent forensic investigator
which the Group engaged with, the existing directors were
unable to obtain the audited financial statements and books
and records of Aurora for the year ended 31 December 2024.

During the audit, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to:

(i) ascertain the Group’s share of the associate’s results;

(ii) determine whether any impairment loss was required
in respect of the investment as at 31 December 2024;
and

(iii) determine whether any misclassification of this
investment as at 31 December 2024.

Any adjustment to this amount could have a material impact
on the Group's net asset position as at 31 December 2024 and
the net loss from ordinary activities attributable to shareholders
for the year then ended.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

2.

Opening Balances and Corresponding Figures

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, which
form the basis for the corresponding figures presented in the
current year's consolidated financial statements, was disclaimed
due to the significance of the potential effect arising from the
limitations on the scope of our audit, details of which are set
out in our auditor’s report dated 6 August 2025.

We were not provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to enable us to assess the possible effects of the
limitations on the scope of our audit, set out in our auditor’s
report dated 6 August 2025.

Any adjustments to the opening balances as at 1 January
2024 found to be necessary to the figures as described above
may impact the Group’s accumulated losses as at 1 January
2024 and the results and related disclosures in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024. Consequently, the comparative figures
presented in the consolidated financial statements may not be
comparable with the current year’s figures.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

3.

Limitation of Scope Concerning Loss on Disposal of
Subsidiaries

In December 2024, the Group completed the disposal of
the entire equity interest in Beyond Noble Holdings Limited
("Beyond Noble”), which is the legal and beneficial owner of
51% of the entire issued share capital of KK Wecheck Medical
Technology Limited (“KK Wecheck”). In December 2024, the
Group completed the disposal of the entire equity interest in
Smart Path Enterprises Limited (“Smart Path”), which is the
legal and beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of
Hopeful Top Limited (“Hopeful Top”).

As described in point 1 and point 3 of audit opinion in year
ended 31 December 2023, we were unable to obtain the
books and records and relevant supporting documents of KK
Wecheck and Hopeful Top. Therefore, we were unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on the accuracy
of loss on disposal of subsidiaries of Beyond Noble and Smart
Path. Accordingly, we were unable to satisfy ourselves the
accuracy of the loss on disposal of subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect thereof,
had we obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence, might
have a consequential effect on the net assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, on its loss for the year then ended
and the disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements for the year then ended.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and to issue an auditor’s report. We
report solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibilities towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. However, because of the matter
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE REEHRBRFESHBHRRAEREN
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EF®)
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's  iRIEBEB S A S EM 2(EE S TrEETa])
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we  ([{5FEI)]) - BPPBY KN BEE - WERET(S
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the — BI)fH 2 HfbhEEE (T o

Code.

Confucius International CPA Limited AR ST MBHEAERA T
Certified Public Accountants RS AT

Fung Kar Heng Samantha REE

Practising Certificate Number: P08253 HEFEZHRIT - P08253

Hong Kong, 6 August 2025 BE —E_hENAKA
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GEeBEaRHEMEZEIKER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-EF =4
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHER FHIT

Revenue &= 5 31,515 36,332
Direct operating costs HELE KR (13,313) (15,991)
Gross profit EF 18,202 20,341
Other income HA 7 1,640 1,933
Selling and distribution costs SHE M sEA AR (10,234) (10,575)
Administrative expenses 1THE A (23,524) (34,840)
Impairment on trade and other E 5 RHAMEBGFIRA R EKE

receivables and loan receivables, H2RE - MR EE

net of reversal 1,743 (6,162)
Impairment on intangible assets EVEERE - (442)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEWBAREE  F58 33A (186) =
Net loss arising on deconsolidation REBUELZRE ARHBARZ

of subsidiary ERFER 33B - (3,777)
Unrealised loss on revaluation of BRATFEEF ABR 25

financial assets at fair value through ~ BEZ RAEIBEE

profit or loss 2 (527)
Finance costs BB A 8 (137) (67)
Share of result of an associate il NG - (2,122)
Loss before income tax BRFr8Fi AT 18 9 (12,494) (36,238)
Income tax PSR 12 - -
Loss for the year KEEEE (12,494) (36,238)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
REBEaREMEZEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-EF =4
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHER FHET
Other comprehensive expense Hit2EMAX
Item that will not be reclassified to T EEF 72 Bm o B -
profit or loss:
Fair value loss on equity instruments  ZAFEEFFAREMEERGZZ
at fair value through other BATHEZ AT EEESE
comprehensive income (49,511) (48,830)
[tem that may be reclassified to AJREEF 7 MR B IH A -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BREBIINEBEEREN =5
translation of foreign operations (32) =
Other comprehensive expense AEEHMEEMSX - MBRBIE
for the year, net of tax (49,543) (48,830)
Total comprehensive expense AEEZHEBAXEE
for the year (62,037) (85,068)
Loss for the year attributable to: DTN ATEEERFEESS !
Equity shareholders of the Company ~ ZXA RIEZSAZER (12,494) (35,934)
Non-controlling interests IR A - (304)
(12,494) (36,238)
Total comprehensive expense UTRNATEE2EFAREEE :
attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company N2 AlEZSIE R (62,037) (84,764)
Non-controlling interests FEFE R i - (304)
(62,037) (85,068)
Loss per share BREE
— Basic and diluted —BEARGEE 14 (HK2.75 (HK7.90
centsiEl) centsi L)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e SR R

As at 31 December 2024
REF=ZpgF+=—HA=4+—H

2024 2023
—E-ME —E =
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FEx FETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
Non-current assets FREEE
Intangible assets B EE 15 260 520
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MR 16 284 2,944
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 2,682 2,342
Investment in an associate REEENF 218 34 13,922 13,922
Equity instruments at fair value through 1ZAF(EET A Kb 2 EUES
other comprehensive income ZBRAT A 20 128 59,625
Financial asset at fair value through BRAFEBEFAERZ
profit or loss WIS EE 19 5,576 5,574
22,852 84,927
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables =0 e 22 2,255 1,878
Other receivables, deposits and B A EUGRIA « e RFER K
prepayments 23 2,784 6,673
Loan receivables JEWE TR 21 908 739
Cash and cash equivalents ReMIBeEEAR 25 37,042 30,081
42,989 39,371
Current liabilities REEE
Contract liabilities ABHEE 24 754 884
Trade and other payables B 5 R EH A EFRIA 26 9,748 6,760
Current portion of lease liabilities HE B E 2 BIEE D 27 1,784 1,050
12,286 8,694
Net current assets RBEETFE 30,703 30,677
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERABAERS 53,555 115,604
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B AR R R

As at 31 December 2024
REF=ZpyFf+=—H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-EF =4
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET T
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Non-current portion of lease liabilities ~FHE & (& = JERIEAZE 7 27 1,287 1,299
Net assets EEFE 52,268 114,305
EQUITY S
Share capital [N 29 91,107 91,107
Reserves G (38,839) 23,198
Total equity ERBE 52,268 114,305
On behalf of the directors REEE=S

Yiu Sze Wai
BRE
Director

EF
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Chung Anita Mei Yiu
EXE

Director

EZE



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

Attrbutable to equty shareholders of the Company
RATERRRERE

Employee Investment Non-
Share Share  compensation  revaluation Merger ~ Contrbuted ~ Accumulated controling Total
capital premium Tesere Tesere felerse surplus [osses Total Interests equity
B8 &

Bh BbEE  BRER  EREE  oRBR AR BiER i fbER  EaEE
HCOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD SO HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSOM HKSODD RSO HKSO
AT AT Thn TR TR AT ThL TR AT AT

note29)  (otedl)  (otedb)  Motedld)  (notedlld)  (note31le)
W) (WBie) (i) (i) (6Big)  (HBie)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-EZE-f-AukH 89323 162310 2975 80302 [B89) 95,402 (190.73) 195,683 445 19,128
Share options evercied BiTkERE 1,784 27% (1,190 - - - - 3390 - 330
Share sse expenses SR - @ - - - - - ] - @
Share options lapsed BXiERE - - (1,785) - - - 1785 - - -
Transactions with equity shareholders  EERRE 2 %5 1784 279 (2979 - - - 1785 338 - 3%
Loss for the year FEERR - - - - = - (35,03 (35,93 (04 (36,39
Other comprehensive expense AfAERS
Change o value on exuityinstumens. BATEERAZb2ENEL
atfairvale through other RETRZATEEEY
comprehensive income - - - (43830) - - - (48,830) - (48,830)
Total comprehensive expense FEERARSAE
for the year - - - (48830) - - (35.934) (84764) (304) (85,068)
Disposal of a subsiary HE-BHELA - - - - - - - - (141) (141
Balance at 31 December 2023 WoBZ=F+ZA=1-A2
o 91,107 165,102 - 31472 (43897) 95,402 (04881) 114,305 - 114,305
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBE K

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KARERRELRE

Employee  Investment

Share Share  compensation  revaluation Merger  Contributed Exchange  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reverse surplus reserve losses equity
= e

Re  RBEE  BEER  EMEE  AMEE ARk ENRE  TMER  BRME

HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

T T Tén Tin T T Tin Tin T
(note29)  (note31(a))  (note31())  (note31(c)  (note31(d)  (note31(e))
(W) (M) (MEsib)  (WB0) (M) (ME3ie)

Balance at 1 January 2024 N-B-RE-A-RrGh 91,107 165,102 - 3141 (#3897) 95,402 - (224,881) 114,305
Lossfor the year REERE - - - - - - - (124%) (1249)
Other comprehensive expense Hf2ERY
Change n o value onequiyinstumentsat Frvalue. ZA T EBA A2 ENGRZRATA

{hrough other comprehensive ncome PANTE L) - - - (49511) - - - - (89511)

Transtr of gai on disposlof equiy nstruments at e (HERATEERTAE M2 ANEL
value through other comprehensieincome o RETAZNaEEEREEH

refained eamings - - - 17307 - - - (17327) -
Exchange difrences aing on tensition o foreign. 585 EREENIE X 258

operations - - - - - - (32 - (32
Total comprehensive expense for the year KEE2ERLAR - - - (32184 - - () (29821 (2031)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R-E-MET-B=t-RrLs 91,107 165,102 - (M) (43,897) 95,402 3 (254,702) 52,68
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEHESERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—EClmEF —TE=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FHET FHIT
Cash flows from operating activities KEEECRERE
Loss before income tax BRATISELATEIE (12,494) (36,238)
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property, plant and Mm% BELRBIITE
equipment 16 306 455
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZTE 17 1,399 1,519
Impairment on trade and other B 5 & H At FEUGRIA LA K
receivables and loan receivables, FEWERZFE - JBREE
net of reversal (1,743) 6,162
Impairment on intangible assets mIZEEZRE 15 - 442
Exchange adjustment on financial BRATFEES ABR T
assets at fair value through B EE AR
profit of loss - 19
Gain on early termination of lease REKRIEEE 2 W (16) (126)
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, HEDE  BERRKEZ
plant and equipment &8, (Was) 9 995 (70)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—ENBARZEE 33A 186 =
Net loss arising on deconsolidation REEUBLRE ARKIE AR
of subsidiary Z iR A 33B - 3,777
Interest expenses MBI 8 137 67
Interest income A BUA 7 (1,012) (381)
Share of result of an associate JE(h— RS N R4 - 2,122
Unrealised (gain)/loss on revaluation BEEAFEEFAEBRZ
of financial assets at fair value MHEE AR (M),
through profit or loss &5 18 19 ) 527
Operating loss before working capital ~ &@& ¢ EB)AT 2 L& FE
changes (12,244) (21,725)
Decrease in inventories FERL - 188
Decrease in trade and B 5 RAMBEUGIE « R R
other receivables, deposits and TR
prepayments 5,088 5,697
Decrease in contract liabilities ERaERDS (130) (552)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other B 5 R HE M FER FRIEL 11~
payables OB 2,988 (3,260)
Cash used in operations REEIEFTAIRE (4,298) (19,652)
Income taxes paid EATFEEL - =
Net cash used in operating activities AR TR 3 5 HEE (4,298) (19,652)
“ToMFFH BEXLERAT 75
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FHET FHIT
Cash flows from investing activities REXFEHREHRE
Interest received B A 1,012 381
Investment in an associate Rl E R 2 KA 34 - (16,044)
Purchase of financial asset at fair value BB ZE A FEE AlBm W%
through profit or loss BE - (2,500)
Proceeds from disposal of equity B ERAFEFAEMEEE
investments at fair value through HIAR AN & FT1S RIR
other comprehensive income 20 9,986 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BERFE S
plant and equipment FIE 1,500 70
Repayment from third parties for loan 5 = H{EEEUE R
receivables - 2,000
Loan to third party BTE=AZER - (2,000)
Purchase of equity investments BERATEESAHEMEE
at fair value through other Wias 2 BRI &
comprehensive income 20 - (839)
Purchases of property, plant and BEWMZE - BB LFZE
equipment (348) (3,004)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) in respect of ~ HEMBARZEESHRA
disposals of subsidiaries (Ot ) H88 33A 279 -
Net cash outflow on deconsolidation BUHRE ABRIEB AR
of subsidiary W mLFEE 338 - (132)
Net cash from/(used in) investing REEFEE (T )EFEE
activities 12,429 (22,068)
Cash flows from financing activities FEXBHERE
Repayments of principal portion of lease B E& &2 K& IH
liabilities 36 (1,001) (1,435)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENEEAERE 36 (137) (67)
Proceeds from shares issued on exercise  [E1T{5 8RR 3517 2 ARt PTTS
of share options EE] - 3,390
Share issue expenses paid BRI ETHAX - (4)
Net cash (used in)/from financing B EF () BB < #5E
activities (1,138) 1,884
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BE4RHELZEEBH M
cash equivalents (m2) 358 6,993 (39,836)
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEEZSEHNETE
changes (32) =
Cash and cash equivalents at R—B—BzRERBELEE
1 January IHH 30,081 69,917
Cash and cash equivalents at RT-—A=+—HZzREERS
31 December £EEH 37,042 30,081
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Allegro Culture Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company on 13 March
2000 and redomiciled to Bermuda by way of de-registration
in the Cayman Islands and continuation as an exempted
company under the laws of Bermuda, with limited liability on
29 January 2003. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is Room 1506, 15/F,
Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK").

The Company acts as an investment holding company and
provides corporate management services. Details of the
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33
to the consolidated financial statements. The Company and
its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”
hereafter.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 were approved for issue by the board of
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) on 6 August 2025.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to
184 have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards, which collective term includes
all applicable individual HKFRS Accounting Standards
("HKFRSs"”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements also include the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the SEHK.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE
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Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda & H = Z &
BARBEBTHEBERINGKELH 158
1506 F « RAAIZ MR ERBBE R FH R
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ARBREEBR AR - REELEEER
%o RETBMBRARZERFHBENEGES
A RERMEE33 - ARBERENE QR
AT SRl ARE ] -

HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HBIEFEZ
HEVBBRRER T _AFN\ASAE
ARBER(EF)SHAETIE -

EXETBERBE

21 REEE
F69F 1848 2 ixE M EHMEK TR
BEBEAMAG([EEGA
g ) TG E BV S RE S5 &R
(RIEMBERAZ BN BERE
ST ER([BAMBHREER]) -
BEAGHEN(EESHER ) R
RE)UNEBRHEA 2 BERTE
RE - AV BRERNBIER B
RS EMRAZERRERE

“TOEER RELARAH

144



/8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The material accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or
amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed
in note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under historical cost convention except for
certain financial instruments, which are stated at fair
values. The measurement bases are described in the
accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRSs 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRSs 16”), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual
results may ultimately differ from those estimates.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements,
are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition or up to
the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group'’s
interest and non-controlling interest are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights,
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss.
The results of the subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the reporting date. All dividends whether
received out of the investee’s pre or post-acquisition
profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.

ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED Annual Report 2024

2.

BEASHBEREUE2)

2.2

2.3

aOIEEE)
REENKHB QR 2 e (W&
BHREEFE)INERERXHA
B o AEEZ R BEIFERES
FREES TAFE - UARBREER
MEABRE R B8 - JFER
o AEERE AN
REZAFEEZBENEIAER
VEENERER  URBRALRQ
AR A -

1 7 5 [ O 5 B B X ) 2 PR 4
HERE IR NIME 2 ZRAHE ¢
() FTHERA(E 2 R FEEEEAR
Biemc A VPEEZERE - HE()Z
MEARZEE(ERBE) AR
BERIFIE R R B E ZREE -
SERTSARZ I B A AR B 2 s
BRZRBRHERNBEEREE
R AT E Z ARR T A FIRR ©

BB A F

BB R B AR B RE S L 1T 4%
P EIREHR - MRFAET
SRR =EREE - BIAREEFE
XREHR  AIHERIREHRT
D ABERAERREHRZ
ERREEESREEIREHR
ZRIEEOI - MEESEREEN
K Ee@n2gyn®m B8EFE

BEE
FEAIAR -

AleEHFIAREHEA

RARRZMBIRAERA - HIER
BT AR AR R EREARK -
ARBERHRE A ZERREK
REREEFHEBRGF 2 EE5
fR - MEXREHR ZWE S
BRGNWERZFAARE - — 8RR
ARR) 2B hER o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRSs 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency of the individual
entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. When a fair value gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are
measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group'’s
presentation currency, have been converted into HK$.
Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$
at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income
and expenses have been converted into HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided
that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.
Any differences arising from this procedure have
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the exchange reserve in
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
provided to write off their costs over their estimated
useful lives, using straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Computer equipment and system 33%
Motor vehicles 20%

The assets’ depreciation method and estimated useful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting period.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the
excess of the aggregate of consideration transferred,
the amount recognised for non-controlling interests
and the fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of
consideration paid, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree, the
excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition
date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units (“CGU") that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, impairment loss
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to other assets of
the unit on the pro-rata basis of the carrying amount to
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments

(a)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using effective
interest method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVTPL: These include financial assets held
for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured
at fair value. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not solely payments
of principal and interest are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost
or at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI"), debt instruments may be
designated at FVTPL on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is made
on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity
investment at FVOCI is measured at fair value.
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss
unless the dividend income clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not
reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby
changes in fair value, dividends and interest
income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL") on trade receivables
and financial assets measured at amortised cost.
ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from possible default events within the
12-months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group measures loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRSs 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRSs 9”) simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are
based on 12-month ECLs. However, when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance will be based
on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information
analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days
past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset. For non credit-impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at
amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables, other borrowing,
amounts due to a director and lease liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy for borrowing cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

(9]

(d)

(e)

(f)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

This is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest expense
over the relevant period. Effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected
life of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRSs 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED Annual Report 2024

2.

BEASHBEREUE2)

2.8

MBITRE)

(9]

(d)

(e)

(f)

MBEEE)
B R s B RN R L FER
BERMANEHBREPER

AR ©

BRAEE

RFAEMBEEEXMBE
{82 B SHA AR A R R
8 2 AL M B M A SRS X
ZIE - BN X BRI
BEFRBEZBTFRE
A B AR A R IR
AFARKIR WA ZF

>__%1__<o

RATA
RRBBEITZEATAZE
WBR P 1S SR FNRR B 31T
PXAGERR

RIETER

WU R 5B E 2 AR A S
MEZBKENER - i
MHEEELCEE  MER
FEBBYERELDFEIHR
ME 2 ¥ IERERRZER] - AR
SERILERZMBEE -

HBEMRGHOPITRAZEEE
fRE: - EEHEEWE Al
RIEFERIMHRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

2.9

Financial instruments (Continued)

(f) Derecognition (Continued)

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial
liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the
equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured
at their fair value on the date the financial
liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair
value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments
are measured to reflect the fair value of the
financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss
for the year.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

2.1

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
in hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are payable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash in hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognise at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
their estimated useful lives and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial
year end. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Lease 2.12 #HE

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRSs
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 Lease (Continued)

BEASHBEREUE2)

212 #HE#E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Lease (Continued) 2.12 HE#E)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRSs 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if

the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Lease (Continued) 2.12 HE#E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBEBRBANGE)
Lease modifications HEBEHK
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a MR TER  AEBEBHEEE
separate lease if: MIEREME A

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13

2.14

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Group. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is
recognised.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital
is determined using the nominal value of shares that
have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issue of
shares are deducted from share premium (net of any
related income tax benefit) to the extent they are
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition 215 WatER

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
any sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over
time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For
contracts where the period between the payment and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component, using
the practical expedient in HKFRSs 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRSs 15").

(i) Provision of advertising services

Advertising income is recognised over time as
the Group has determined that the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits of the Group’s performance. Invoices
are issued according to contractual terms and
are usually payable within 0 to 120 days.

(i) Sales of medical and health products

Revenue from sale of medical and health
products is recognised upon the goods
delivered, which is the point in time when
customer has ability to direct the use and obtain
the control of the goods and the goods have
been accepted by customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

2.16

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

E-commerce

Revenue from e-commerce (mainly in sales
of household and personal care products) is
recognised upon the goods delivered, which
is the point in time when customer has ability
to direct the use and obtain the control of the
goods and the goods have been accepted by
customer.

Provision of IP development design service

IP development design service income is
recognised upon over time as the Group has
determined that the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits of the
Group’s performance. Invoices are issued
according to contractual terms and are usually
payable within 7 days.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on
the principal outstanding at the applicable
interest rate.

Contract liabilities

Contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to

transfer goods or services to a customer for which the

Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EiE—

FE_HFEF_A=1F—HIFE

2. EARETHEEMEE)

2.15 WEER#E)

2.16

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

7 EH
m@%¥ﬁ@«zg%ﬁﬁﬁ
AREAERER) 2 i

\T%ZHh@Mﬁ%%h
FERZEALEAES

PRI 2 R - TR
BPRTERNES )RR -

/

RALIPRI B R ST RIS

AR AEEDEERF R
W R 7 58 #E 7S 55 [ B 49 2 )
v PR RBUMA S
E—%ﬁﬁﬁﬁm BER
BENGHRRAE  BEERT
KA °

FEWA

MEBWRARAKEERNSILE
R AR MEERG

BHEE
EHAEEAKRERAKED KN

EPRE(EARER

FEZREmAMBIEE -

CEDNIDE=S

“TOEER RELARAH

103



104

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are subject to impairment testing.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
are not subject to amortisation and are tested for
impairment annually. All other assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal and
value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessment of time value of money and the risk
specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash generating unit ("CGU")).
As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at CGU level.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17

2.18

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill) (Continued)

Impairment losses are charged pro rata to the assets in
the CGU, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less cost
of disposal, or value-in-use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on assets other than goodwill is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss has been
recognised.

Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefit schemes

The Group participates in a Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes (the “MPF Scheme")
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong
Kong) for qualifying employees of the Group
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of independent
trustees. The Group contributes at the lower of
HK$1,500 or 5% of relevant monthly payroll
costs to the MPF Scheme, which contribution
is matched by employees. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme vest fully and
immediately with the employees. Accordingly,
there were no forfeited contributions available
for the Group to reduce its existing level of
contributions to the MPF Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Share-based employee compensation

The Group operates two equity-settled share-
based compensation plans, which were share
option scheme and share award scheme to
recognise and motivate the contribution from
its staff and directors.

For share options granted by the Group, the
share-based compensation is recognised as
an expense in the Group's statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income
with a corresponding credit to the employee
compensation reserve.

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation are
measured at their fair values. The fair value is
measured at the grant date using applicable
option-pricing models, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to options, the total
estimated fair value of the share options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will
vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share-based employee compensation
(Continued)

For share award scheme, when the trustee
purchases the Company’s shares from the
open market, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs,
is presented as share award scheme reserve
and deducted from total equity. No gain
or loss is recognised on the transactions
of the Company’s own shares. When the
trustee transfers the Company’s shares to the
grantees upon vesting, the related costs of
the granted shares vested are transferred to
share award scheme reserve. Accordingly, the
related expense of the granted shares vested
is transferred from employee compensation
reserve. The difference arising from such
transfer is debited or credited to retained
earnings. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of
shares that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to employee compensation reserve.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses where it has a contractual
obligation or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the reporting date. Non-
accumulating compensated absences such
as sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets (including property, plant and
equipment) are recognised as deferred income in the
statement of financial position and transferred to profit
or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable and are recognised as other income, rather
than reducing the related expense.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds received
and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
market interest rates.

ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED Annual Report 2024

2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
P FEF A= —HILFE

BEASHBEREUE2)

2.19 BFFHRL

EREMAEFRBAEE S E T BT
M M EIRTERSESERMS
b T RERBUTERS o

BN AR B SR ERB
MR R AR FERR %ﬁaﬂi%iﬂfﬁﬁﬁ%
N IBRTPER - AEmE -
ERUHRAEEREE - @%ﬁﬁiu
Hib A KBIHERDEE(EED
% - BB K& 2 BT /R 5
RRARFERBIETEWA - WIRFES
REBAEENHEBEE 2 IRFR
R o

BUN A RE IE RE E AR X &R
ZEERAMARERHEERMH
X % 1 & W ER B A% R SR AE B K
7R B 7EE R W R AR A 1R 2R FE R
REMIA - TP ERF

RAER TSN RSB &R
SR SBFAE - B WERATE
FRREBZBITHHMRFHEHER
RFEEZEANERTE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Borrowing costs

2.21

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.
A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when
incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwvill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Taxation (Continued)

BEASHBEREUE2)

2.21 BE(E)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the Directors for
their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable and
operating segments:

- Advertising — providing advertisement services
on different publications, magazines and other
advertising media;

- Sale of medical and health products — selling
the various type of medical and health product
(including reagent) for health checks;

- E-Commerce — selling internationally imported
household and personal care products to
E-commerce platform; and

- Provision of IP development design service —
providing IP coding optimisation and refinement
services according to individual project
requirement.

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of product and service lines requires
different resources as well as marketing approaches. All
inter-segment transfer are carried-out at arm’s length
prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Segment reporting (Continued) 222 pHHwEE)

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRSs 8 “Operating
Segments” (“HKFRSs 8”) are the same as those used
in its consolidated financial statements prepared under
HKFRSs, except that:

o corporate expense

o expenses related to share-based payments
o finance costs

° income tax

are not included in arriving at the operating results of
the operating segments.

Segment assets include all assets but corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which
are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment and are not allocated to
a segment. These include deferred tax liabilities and
liabilities incurred for financing rather than operating
purposes.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Related parties

(@)

A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is @ member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHHEHE®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Related parties (Continued) 223 HFBEEAL(E)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) EENE A AT E A
following conditions apply: (Continued) W EARKEGHEBE:
(#&)
(vy  The entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ERBE RIS E M
plan for the benefit of the employees REBBEB ERZ
of the Group or an entity related to the 1E B RA P& 2 B
Group. g EAETEl -
(vii  The entity is controlled or jointly (vi) ERBX@QFAEAL
controlled by a person identified in (a). i Sk A 1 o
(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has iy  @OFTREALHE
significant influence over the entity BEBEAXELR
or is a member of key management ERNZBEEBNEA
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of AIZEEZEEBEEEA
the entity). 8 e
(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group (vii)y ZERIEMBEE
of which it is a part, provides key ZEAKERAEE
management personnel services to the DFIN/NC] g SS/NGI B
Group or to the Company's parent. HEZEREABR
7% o
Close members of the family of a person are those Ei%/\iZ%E’%?ﬁ%ﬁ?%]’ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%?%
family members who may be expected to influence, or BHEBIHLZBATHEE
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the B RIGKELBLE -
entity and include:
(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic (i) ZBAANTZ FR KRB E
partner; EfHE
(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic iy ZmBALTZEBHEREMAE
partner; and ZFEZ R
(i) dependents of that person or that person’s @iy HmBALTHZBALTZEE
spouse or domestic partner. FEEHFEIZEA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

3.1

New or amended HKFRSs which are effective
during the year

During the year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to and effective for the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning on 1 January 2024:

Amendments to
HKFRSs 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRSs 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of these new and amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has no material impact on
the Group’s financial performance and positions for
the current or prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

3.2

New or amended HKFRSs which are issued
but not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs have been
issued but are not yet effective, and have not been
adopted early by the Group.

Amendments to HKFRSs 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRSs 7 and Measurement of Financial
[nstruments?
Amendments to HKFRSs 9 Contract Referencing Nature-
and HKFRSs 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRSs 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS

Accounting Standards — Volume
fife

Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRSs 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

HKFRSs 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability Disclosures*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

3.2

New or amended HKFRSs which are issued
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRSs 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRSs 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements
in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and
HKFRSs 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also
made.

HKFRSs 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, with early application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRSs 18 has no impact on the Group's
financial position and performance in foreseeable
future, but has impact on presentation of the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Other than HKFRSs 18, which could impact the
presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial
statements, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of the above amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgement, estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(i) Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate
impairment of trade receivables. The provision rates
are based on the past collection history as groupings
of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on the Group's historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered. In addition,
trade receivables with significant balances and credit
impaired are assessed for impairment individually.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Estimated impairment of loan receivables

The Group reviews its portfolios to assess impairment
at the end of each reporting period. In determining
the amount of impairment that should be recorded
in profit or loss, the Group makes judgements as to
whether there is any observable data indicating that
there is @ measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a portfolio before the decrease can
be identified with an individual in that portfolio. This
evidence may include observable data indicating that
there has been an adverse change in the payment
status of the debtors, or both current and forecast
general economic conditions. Management uses
estimates based on historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence
of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when
scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology
and assumptions used for estimating both the amount
and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly
to reduce any differences between loss estimates and
actual loss experience.

Depreciation

The Group depreciates property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets using straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives, starting from the date on
which the assets are available from use. The estimated
useful lives reflect the directors’ best estimate of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future
economic benefits from the use of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. FEEext{tstRyE 2
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(iv) Current taxation and deferred taxation (iv) BENHERFIE RIEERIE

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong. REBAHMBEBRGEN - REE
Significant judgement is required in determining the MIEEE S5 R A BT IR 2 R R
amount of the provision of taxation and the timing BIEHERHE - B %%i‘xiﬂﬁﬁP
of the related tax. There are many transactions and BEREHABERKRIELRS
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination FTE o Tﬁ:ﬁ%%@ﬁi‘%ﬁ%%@?@%ﬂﬁ
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 2SR - BEEBEFEED
Where the final outcome of the tax matters is different BT E B 2 FTS T RHE -

from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

5. REVENUE 5. W&
The principal activities of the Group are the provision of RNEEFEZXBRIBEESERE - #HE
advertising services, sale of medical and health products, BENMMEES SRS (EBAEER
e-commerce (mainly in sales of household and personal care FA B fE A REFR E am ) DA SR 3R A IP R 35 5 51 AR
products), and provision of IP development design service i ONE
income.
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHIT
Revenue from contracts with customers — FAER B3RS 2ERI S 1557 #E A 2k
within the scope of HKFRSs 15: BEFE#H2 I -
Provision of advertising services RIEEERS 31,515 32,483
Sales of medical and health products SHE B R RREER - 373
E-commerce business BT EHER - 2,900
Provision of IP development design service $2{tIPFIZER 5T RS - 576
31,515 36,332
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5.  REVENUE (Continued) 5. W@
In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by primary RTR - WSEEEHETS  EZEM
geographical market, major products and service lines and K ARTS A R e R 2 1 o
timing of revenue recognition.
Provision of
Sales of medical and IP development
Advertising health products E-commerce design service Total
B HEBRRRRER 7% RPRRRT RS it
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECNE | D% | CBCRE | C3o-F | ZE3CWE | C5C-F | ZBCWE | 3o-F | CECRE | C3ocF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEn Thr TR Th TEn ThT Thn ThR TEn ThR
Primary geographical ~ FEHERHS
market
Hong Kong B 23,983 32,483 - 3R - 2,900 - 576 23,983 36,332
Mainland China HER 1512 - - - - - - - 15m -
515 | 3483 - 30 - 290 - 5%6 | 31515 | 3633
Major products and IZERRAHE
service lines
Provision of advertising ~ SEALEERAE
services 31,515 32483 - - - - - - 31,515 32483
Sales of medical and health  HEEERFRER
products - - - 3n - - - - - 31
Sdlesof householdand ~ HERRREAEEER
personal care products - - - - - 2,900 - - - 2,900
Provison of P development (PR B SRt AR
design service - - - - - - - 576 - 576
31,515 32483 - 373 - 2,900 - 576 31,515 36,332
Timing of revenue WERARE
recognition
At point in ime RE-REE - - - 313 - 2,900 - = - 3273
Transferred over time E-REREE 31515 3483 - = - - - 576 31515 33,059
31,515 32,483 - 313 - 2,900 - 576 31,515 36,332
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REVENUE (Continued)

The following table provides information about trade
receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

&3¢ )

TREHESIBRUFEBERREEFENZ
BHREBEER

customers:
2024 2023
—EBoMEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Trade receivables (Note 22) B S IE(HE22) 2,255 1,878
Contract liabilities (Note 24) EHaE(FEE24) 754 884

Contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration
received from customers. HK$598,000 of the contract
liabilities as of 31 December 2023 was recognised as revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from as performance
obligations were satisfied due to the completion of services.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to its sales
contracts for advertising services, sales of medical and health
products, and e-commerce business and therefore the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts for advertising
services, sales of medical and health products, and e-commerce
business that had an original expected duration of one year
or less. No other consideration is included in these sales
contracts.

AHABFZEHEREFENRERRE -
Iﬁlﬁ%ﬂfﬁ}@ﬁﬁé@fﬁ R-T—=
FHZA=1T—H 25K AE598,000% T
WHERABE_T-_NF+-_A=+—8H
IEFEZ WS ©

ARBECERATHRETAREESR
% HEBERREERARETEEE
BRHESLD At EAEH Y AEER
SERTHRRERAFRA—FHATZE
R - HEBREMRBEMUARETRE
BEBHNANERBNEIRERESZ
Wt ER - MEEMERARE S E X
FHERLNF -

“TOEER RELARAH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors has identified the Group has three
(2023: four) reportable and operating segments as described
in note 2.22. These operating segments are monitored and
strategic decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment

operating results.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

D EER

M2 22Ff30 - HITEFERESEE
E=(CT-=F : METLRREES
o RSWEDBRIER - YELEHE

7B KB AR HEMRESIERE o

BE-Z_NF+_-_A=+—HLEFE

Provision
Sale of of IP
Provision of medical development
advertising  and health design
services products  E-commerce service Total
HE Rt
Rt BER P53 %
EERE REER EFE Rt iR CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TET TiEn TEn FEx
Segment revenue parilGn 31,515 - - - 31,515
Segment results NEEE 1,297 - (123) (12) 1,162
Reconciliation: #iR
Unallocated corporate income  KAFREKRA 1,426
Unallocated corporate expenses  ADEMEEH (14,945)
Finance costs HBER (137)
Loss before income tax BRETEHIRIER (12,494)
Segment assets PHEE 13,606 - 2,401 - 16,007
Reconciliation: HiR
Intangible assets BAE 260
Property, plant and equipment  #1% + BiE k& 13
Right-of-use assets fEREsE 865
Investment in an associate i WNG g 13,922
Equity instruments at FVOC| BATHEES AR 2ANEZ
BRATIE 128
Financial asset at FVTPL BATEBEIABHMBEE 3,267
Loan receivables FEER 908
Other receivables, depositsand ~ EftEWFIE « & RIBFAH
prepayments 1,201
Cash and cash equivalents RekReSEER 29,270
Total assets BEE 65,841
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Continued) BE-Z_NMF+-HA=+—HLEFE
(#&)
Provision
Sale of of IP
Provision of medical development
advertising  and health design
services products  E-commerce service Total
HE Rt
Rt BEK IPBA %
EERS REER EFE% Kt R &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FiEn TEx FiEx
Segment liabilities AHEE 4,261 - - - 4,261
Recondiliation: iR
Lease liabilities HEaE 841
Other payables HiE R 508 8471
Total liabilities BaE 13,573
Other segment information ~ HfAEEH
Depreciation and amortisation 7% K% 520 - - - 520
Impairment on trade and other 25 K E M ENFUER
receivables and loan receivables, EMEFURE @ HIFRAR
net of reversal (1,726) - - - (1,726)
Interest income MBHA (23) - (12) - (35)

—Eopess aEesRAT |25



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

6. DEHER(#E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BEZZT-_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Provision
Sale of of IP
Provision of medical development
advertising and health design
services products  E-commerce service Total
HE Rt
Bt BER IPRE
EER% REER EE et AR CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET FET TR THT
Segment revenue D 32,483 373 2,900 576 36,332
Segment results NEpxE (595) (619) (2,004) (6,859) (10,077)
Recondiliation: iR -
Unallocated corporate income KA EREKRA 1,035
Unallocated corporate expenses  AABAEE (27,129
Finance costs HBER (67)
Loss before income tax BRETEHRIER (36,238)
Segment assets PHERE 6,919 - 30,163 = 37,082
Reconciliation: iR
Intangible assets RRAE 520
Property, plant and equipment ~ #1% ~ BIE KRG 2,938
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,809
Investment in an associate i il AN 13,922
Equity instruments at FVOC| RATEEF AL M2 EKE R
ATA 59,625
Financial asset at FVTPL BATEETANEG IBEE 3,267
Loan receivables FEER 739
Other receivables, depositsand ~ EftEWFVE « K& RBRAR
prepayments 748
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReSEEE 3,648
Total assets BEE 124,298
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. ZEER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued) BHE_ZT-_=F+-HA=1T—HIEFE
(#%)

Provision

Sale of of IP

Provision of medical development

advertising and health design
services products  E-commerce service Total

HE heft

Fedt BER I3
BERS REEER ETEK Rtk At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAT TAT TAL TAT

Segment liabilities AHEE 3327 - - - 3,327
Reconciliation: #Hk

Lease liabilities HEafR 1,802
Other payables Hit 08 4,864
Total liabilities #afkE 9,993

Other segment information ~ Ht A HEH
Depreciation and amortisation 478 [ 4 1211 = = = 1,211
Impairment on trade and other & 5 R EL i FE LB [

receivables and loan receivables, TEREFUR(E @ HIBEE

net of reversal 1,690 - 2,868 ) 4,556
Interest income MBHA ©) = (7) = (16)

—zopasy aExtaRaas |2/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

The Group's revenue from external customers and its non-
current assets other than financial instruments are divided into
the following geographical areas.

DEER(#)
AEBMRENRES 2 AU REIER
BE(TEENEIL)ED AU THE -

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REMREFF 2 W FRBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
TEOME | ZE-=F | ZBEINF | ZEB-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET FHT FH&TT
Hong Kong (domicile) B (ERETEH) 23,943 36,332 3,226 5,806
Mainland China R B A 7,572 = - =
31,515 36,332 3,226 5,806

There is no inter-segment revenue earned by the segments in
both years.

Sales by geographical markets are analysed based on the
location of customers and the geographical location of non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the assets or
the location of the operation to which they are allocated.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as

R E D HR R ERER ) BRI MK

3
=
W
Mt
>

MBS E D 2 HEDRBEEF AT
NIERDEEZHEMNEENEEERM
R ED BB EN LB MO -

EREREFNER
RIEAFRERMASEAKZE10% A L1
BERWamT

follows:
2024 2023
—EBME —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Customer A BEPA N/ATE A * N/AT i R *
& The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of * A FE e 2 N 4 5 BA S £ [ AR A R S 4 ik

the total revenue of the Group for the respective year.

No single customer contributed 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue in years 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

OTHER INCOME 7. HflA
2024 2023
—E2E_NE —EB-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FBx FiEIT
Interest income FLEWA 1,012 381
Gain on disposals of property, plantand ~ HEWE « BE &&E 2 kS
equipment - 70
Sales of e-cigarette BFEHE - 316
Sundry income FETRURA 628 651
Waive of loan HREN - 515
1,640 1,933
FINANCE COSTS 8.
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 137 67

“TOEER RELARAH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

9. BRFIEHAEE

2024 2023
—E-EF —EB-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT

Loss before income tax is arrived at after  BRETISFATEERE NG, (GFA)

charging/(crediting): TAI%IA
Auditor’s remuneration (Note) Z RN S (B 5E) 800 1,390
Depreciation of property, plant and M - B R 2 ITE (MisE1e)

equipment (Note 16) 306 455
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RS E I EHEE17)

(Note 17) 1,399 1,519
Employee benefit expense (including EERANFAZ(BEZEEME)

directors’ emoluments) (Note 11) (frzE11) 14,228 26,721
Exchange loss, net VE 5 FRE 119 211
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, plant ~ HEWE  BE R&RiE 2 EE

and equipment (Ugzs) 995 (70)
Impairment on trade and other receivables & 5 & E b fE U GRIE LA K FEMCE 5K

and loan receivables, net of reversal ZRME - kR (1,743) 6,162
Cost of inventories recognised in direct REELS SR A ERN T ERA

operating costs - 3,133

Note: During the year, no auditor’'s remuneration for other service Bk -

was paid (2023: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 10. EEME RSN EEEMNS
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=M:
The aggregate amounts of the emoluments paid or ENSENESE 2B ERRNT :

payable to the Directors are as follows:

Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit
Share-based  and benefits scheme

Fee payment inkind contributions Total
e 2ER RIRER

e GIES BNEN st B &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TER TER TER TER

2024 —E-_ME
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Yiu Sze Wai (Note (i) B Szt (Biakii)) 250 - 640 1 901
Mr. Chen Jiajun (Note (i) PR (& 5 2 (Bt = (v) 150 - - - 150
Non-executive directors EBTES
Mr. Ma Fei (Note (vii)) BRI (M) 93 - - - 93
Mr. Ng Wai Hung (Note (vi)) RIS (FI Vi) 93 - - - 93
Ms. Chung Anita Mei Yiu ExRE L (M)

(Note (i)) 87 - - - 87
Ms. Sun Jing (Note (i) Ftszr L (M) 87 - - - 87

Independent non-executive ~ BIUFHTES

directors

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex iy 120 - - - 120
Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia HEHML T 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chai Chung Wai (Note (x)) BB {E 5 A (FizEx) 80 - - - 80
Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (Note (i) T BI#E554 (Fif=E(ii) 9% - - - 9%
Mr. Li Chaobo (Note (xi)) ZER £ () 88 - - - 88
Ms. Yang Wanning (Note (xii) i E &4 (FitaE(xii) 40 - - - 40

1,304 - 640 1" 1,955

—zopgss aExeeRan 3]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

10. EEMERSREEEMNES &)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EE=MEE)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
Share-based ~ and benefits scheme
Fee payment inkind  contributions Total
o 2R RIER
ik RIARR EWiEh sTElER =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TAT AL AT TAL
2023 g2
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Yiu Sze Wai (Note (i) B Szt (Biakii)) 148 - - - 148
Mr. Chen Jiajun (Note (iv) PR (& 55 A (BT (iv)) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Tsang Hing Bun (Note (v)) ~ ZEE %4 (Fizv) 400 = = = 400
Non-executive directors FBTES
Mr. Yiu Yu Cheung (Note (vi))  BkFHI5E A (FfRE(v) 420 = = = 420
Mr. Ma Fei (Note (vi)) SR A (i) 49 - - - 49
Mr. Ng Wai Hung (Note (vii)) RIEH S (FEVvi) 49 = - = 49
Mr. Shiu Shu Ming (Note (viii) ~ EE3083 55 4 (B (i) 80 = = = 80
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors
Mr. William Keith Jacobsen EEEA (X))

(Note (ix)) 80 - - - 80
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex Rl A4 120 - - - 120
Ms. Tang Po Lam Paulia (Note (i) EFEE3#fzz+ (Fi=E (i) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chai Chung Wai (Note (x)) BB {E %4 (FHEE(x) 32 = = = 32

1618 - - - 618
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

Appointed on 8 July 2024.

Appointed on 8 April 2024 and resigned on 25
October 2024.

Appointed on 4 October 2023.

Appointed on 1 September 2023 and resigned on 20

May 2024.

Resigned on 25 September 2023.

Resigned on 22 September 2023.

Appointed on 24 September 2023 and resigned on 8
July 2024.

Appointed on 6 January 2023 and resigned on 24

September 2023.

Resigned on 1 September 2023.

Appointed on 24 September 2023 and resigned on

30 August 2024.

Appointed on 8 April 2024.

Appointed on 30 August 2024.

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

10. EEMERSREEEMNES &)

(a)

EEME 2

Bi%E

(i) R_Z-_WEFELH/\BEERT -

(ii) RZZE-NFEMNANBEZEL
RZE-_NMFE+A=-+HAE
£

(iii) R-ZE_=F+AMNBEEERT-

(iv) RZZTZ=FNA—BEZF -
YRA-—_ZE_MERA -+ HE
£

(v) RZBE-=FAA-_+HBE
e

(vi) RZE_=FhLA=-+=H#
£ o

(vii) RZZEZ=FNA=-THEEZ
f YN -—OELANBE
£ o

(i) RMZEZ=F—R BEZE-
YR-—E-_=FhA_-_tMHEE
£ o

(ix) R-ZE_=FNA—HBI-

(x) RZZEZ=FNA=THAEZ
R -_mFEN\A=+H
BHT -

(xi) R_Z-_WEFEMAN\BEERT -

(xii) R-ZZE_WENA=+HEZ
£

“TOEER RELARAH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The executive director’s emoluments shown above
were mainly for his services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive director’'s emoluments
shown above were mainly for his services as director of
the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
none of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration and there were no emoluments paid by
the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join, or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of
office.

Five highest paid individuals

In 2024, the five individuals whose emoluments
were the highest in the Group for the year include
one Director whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis presented above. In 2023, none of the
Directors’ emoluments were among the five highest-
paid individuals. Emoluments paid or payable to the

10. EEMERSREEEMNES &)

(a)

(b)

BEEME )

NEFMRATESHEERE/K
BRAEEARBRASEEHEL
2R - M EFRIFRTEEMS
TRERRERARBALENBER
BIEEFEH IR - A EFRBY
FRTEEHE IR ERARETR
ARREEELZ IR -

REBE_ZT_NEFR_ZT_=F
+ZA=1+—HLEFE WEES
WESFRAEREEMME - MAE
BN ESNME TES  EAR
SIEEMAREBE IR IMALEE
e 2 TR X Skt SRR (E o

TUGESHMAL

RZZZWOF - AEEFAREE
BFMALTRE—REE - EHH
ERBRREXZNHHNA - K=
To=F  HEEENHFMCIA
EZEESFMALES - FREK
BN FEBEUEZ(ZZE==F: 1

remaining four (2023: five) individuals during the year B)ANTHF BT -
are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT T
Salaries, allowances and other benefits % ~ 288 & H A2 F| 3,542 9,146
Discretionary bonuses EIIBIEAT 621 2,691
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3ER4E |5t &Ik 45 36
4,208 11,873
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 10. EEME RSN EEEMS &)
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) HiUBSEFHMALE)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e FTHIEE :

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—EBoME —EC=4F
Emolument bands TS
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 =2 1,000,000/87C 2
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7% 1,500,000/8 7T
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017&7C 22,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$8,000,001-HK$8,500,000 8,000,001,87T£8,500,00078 7T - 1
4 5
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, REBEEZZT_MER-_T_=4F
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the TZA=T—HIEFE  XEEW
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join EY e TR = HMAL
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss ERR S| E MARE B R IIA
of office. INES B 2 T X Sk E Bk R (E o

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 11. EEEFAHRZ(BRESMHE)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2024 2023

—EB-E —EC-=fF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Directors’ fees =tk 1,304 1,618
Wages, salaries and other benefits I% - FehEMET 12,548 24,674
Retirement benefit scheme contributions — :R{RTE 5T 2% 376 429
14,228 26,721
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

12.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax under the two-
tiered profits tax rate regime. Under the two-tiered profits tax
rate regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity would be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million would be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime would continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group has no assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% for the year 2024.

Reconciliation between income tax credit and accounting loss
at applicable tax rates is as follows:

12.

Fri&%i

R BARIE NS I M AR B U Z B NS
B REMGSHMAS  ERSEER
B2E & BTN IR 25% B R - M
HiB2 B 8B T 2 m M K 2 16.5% B R
B AMIANSHMAGIER c SEER
i A MR AR A — K16 .5 % BANTHIR ©

AEERMEFEYEERTEN - HIAL
BB ENEHEL B -

RBHBEECEMAETOE(TREMERIE])
REEMETRERED - HEHNERT]
R-ZF-MFHNHER25% °

iR EAMRRTE e 5 R
HERMT ¢

2024 2023
—E-E —EB-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBx FHT
Loss before income tax MRET SR ATES 1B (12,494) (36,238)
Notional tax calculated at the rates BEMIE  REEANAEER 2B
applicable to the loss in the tax BEATRE
jurisdictions concerned (2,062) (5,979)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BERTMA 2 B2 (1,511) (15)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses PR AR 2 M2 1,428 2,141
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMIBEBE M E 2,393 3,503
Tax effect of share of results of FE(E— & R R EE IS E
an associate - 350
Utilisation of tax losses previously B) RS Rl R R T IE B 1B
recognised (248) =
Income tax FrigH - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for EETRBERNEBEZE-_ZE_NEER=_ZF
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. T=F+Z A=+ —HIEFEZRE -

14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable RARERRREG 2 BRERNRESE
to equity shareholders of the Company is based on the BIRE A TSR E -
following data:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHIT
Loss for the year attributable to equity KA RIEG 2 AN FEEE
shareholders of the Company (12,494) (35,934)
Number of shares
RGEHE
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG EEREREE 2 EEAN
shares for the purpose of basic loss RETFHEH
per share 454,899 454,899

—Eopes amxesRas 13/
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

14.

15.

LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

The calculation of basic loss per share was based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
approximately HK$12,494,000 (2023: HK$35,934,000) and
the denominators used were the same as those detailed above
for both basic and diluted loss per share.

In 2024 and 2023, diluted loss per share attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company was the same as basic loss per
share as the impact of the exercise of share options was anti-
dilutive.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The intangible assets with carrying amount HK$260,000
represent the licence plates which enable the vehicle to travel
and hang licence plates in both Mainland China and Hong
Kong. The licences are renewable every year at minimal cost
and they are considered as having an indefinite useful life
because they are expected to generate economic benefit to
the Group indefinitely. The licences will not be amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite, instead they will
be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.
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118 #912,494,0008 L ( =& — = :
35,934,000/ T)5T 8 © FifE Az & E
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REZFB-_WFER-_T_=F BR1TEE
BEARBERYE  AQRERKRRENG
BREEERESRENEIRER -

BREE

AR E/5260,0008 THELEEE L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. V¥ - MENRE

Computer
Furniture Office  equipment Motor  Leasehold
and fixtures  equipment  and system vehicles improvement Total
ElRfE
GRREE BLAERG &S RE %6 &it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL TAL TAL TAL ThL TAL
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F-f-H
Cost A 1,446 1,265 23,086 2,446 - 28243
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (1,446) (1,265) (23,077) (2,060) - (27,848)
Net book amount KE¥E - - 9 386 - 395
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-2--%+-A=1-H
I3
Opening net book amount ENRESE - - 9 386 - 395
Additions AE = - 4 3,000 - 3,004
Disposal of cost HERR - - - (580) - (580)
Disposal of accumulated depreciation HEZFHE - - - 580 - 580
Wiitten-off of cost MR (1,428) (1,245) (22,654) (1,386) - (26,713)
Written-off of accumulated depreciation  H#Z:HHTE 1,428 1,245 22,654 1,386 = 26,713
Depreciation e - - ® (447) = (455)
Closing net book amount EXEEFE - - 5 2,939 = 2,944
At 31 December 2023 and RZZZ=ETZA=T-HR
1 January 2024 ZFIRE-A-H
Cost A 18 20 436 3,480 - 3,954
Accumulated depreciation ZiiE (18) (20) 31) (541) = (1,010)
Net book amount REFE - - 5 2,939 - 2,944
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z-MWET-A=1—-H
I3
Opening net book amount EREFE - - 5 2,939 - 2,944
Additions RE 3 18 284 - 43 348
Disposal of cost HERA = - = (3,400) = (3,400)
Disposal of accumulated depreciation MEZHE - - - 83 - 743
Written-off of cost B (18) - (267) (80) - (365)
Written-off of accumulated depreciation ~ HIB#Z5HTE 18 - 267 35 - 320
Depreciation ik = 2) (59) (237) (8) (306)
Closing net book amount ERREHE 3 16 230 - 35 284
At 31 December 2024 RZBZMETZA=+-H
Cost A 3 38 453 - 4 537
Accumulated depreciation ZiHTE - (22) 203 - ®) (253)
Net book amount HE¥E 3 16 230 - 3 284
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

17.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FHEEE
Leased Office
properties equipment Total
HEWE WOERME |t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FHET
At 1 January 2023 R-—ZE-_=%—H—H
Cost (DN 12,098 634 12,732
Accumulated depreciation 2FHE (10,368) (567) (10,935)
Net book amount AREFE 1,730 67 1,797
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE_Z-_=F+-_fA=1+—H
HFE
Opening net book amount FYRRESHE 1,730 67 1,797
Addition NE 1,888 583 2,471
Disposal HE (407) = (407)
Depreciation e (1,402) (117) (1,519)
Closing net book amount FEREEFE 1,809 533 2,342
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=%+=ZFA=+—H
1 January 2024 k=T MFE—-H—H
Cost B 1,887 1,217 3,104
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (78) (684) (762)
Net book amount IREFE 1,809 533 2,342
Year ended 31 December 2024 (2 E-NF+—_A=+—H
WHFE
Opening net book amount FEYRRESFE 1,809 533 2,342
Addition NG 2,243 - 2,243
Disposal HE = (504) (504)
Depreciation e (1,370) (29) (1,399)
Closing net book amount FREMEFE 2,682 = 2,682
At 31 December 2024 RZZZME+=A=1+—H
Cost (DN 4,130 - 4,130
Accumulated depreciation 25T E (1,448) = (1,448)
Net book amount IRESE 2,682 - 2,682
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17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

17. FRAEEE®

2024 2023

—E-IEF —TC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FHT

Expense relating to short-term leases BRAEAHEENRY 840 458
Total cash outflow for leases HER e RLARE 1,138 1,502

For both years, the Group leased various offices premises
and office equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of one to three years (2023: one
to two years), but may have extension options as described
below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group has an extension option for a leased property. This is
used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing
the assets used in the Group's operations. The extension
option held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether
it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension option. In
addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain
to exercise an extension option, upon the occurrence of either
a significant event or a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of the lessee. In 2024 and 2023, no
such triggering event happened.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set
out in notes 27 and 38(d).

RMFAR - AEERESERLYE LB
NREANEE - HEARNEEHR—
E=F(ZT_=F: —EMF)FIL B8
AR ERE (N TIA) - HEGK
R EREERE - BB TEGRRR
iRt - REEEE BN AHE T MEEE 2
RER  AKEEAGRZERLEES
[ AT SR IR 1T 2 HAFA] o

AEEREHEMRNTHREZRE - 1))
AREEASEZEMAEETMNSE
BEAMERAL FHENTHEERE
AN E M IEARRR AT ©

AEBMPAERBARTHRETAERT
TR EA R IR o IhoD - EREEAREMH
SEFARBAMEHABR T HBEERE
B AEBESEHTEREAERRETE
EHEEER - NZTEZWHEFRZT ==
FoEBEBTEG -

EREEAE HERR M ZFBIHR
MIEE27 KR Bi7E38(d) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

18. GOODWILL 18. B&

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHBT

Gross carrying amount HBEREE
At 1 January and 31 December W—A—BE+=ZA=+—H 14,119 14,119

Accumulated impairment loss iR EEE

At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BEkt+=-—A=+—H 14,119 14,119

Net carrying amount BRENFE
At 1 January and 31 December W—A—BE+=ZA=+—H - >

142  ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

19.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL 19. BRATEEFABRZUEEE
2024 2023

—E-EF —T-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx F&TT

Club membership with debenture HEtEe 5 EH 3,267 3,267
Investment in fund KEHES 2,309 2,307
5,576 5,574

Movement in financial asset at FVTPL is as below: FEEFABRCPBEEZZSHNOT
2024 2023

—E-EF —To=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAETT

At 1 January n—A—H 5,574 3,620
Addition i - 2,500

Net fair value changes taken to profit BaER s AT EEZESFE

or loss 2 (527)
Exchange adjustment HE 5, 8 B - (19)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 5,576 5,574

BEHEAES RS EANTEERE
HEENAFEENE -

The club membership with debenture is measured at fair value
which has been determined with reference to the publicly
available price information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVOCI 20. RAFEEFAHMZEHKEZ
RATEH
2024 2023
—EE —E =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FT FHBIT
Hong Kong BB
— Listed equity securities — FWRAES 128 59,625

Movement in equity instruments at FVOCI is as below:

BAFEE AR ME2EKS ZBATE
T

2024 2023

—EBoME —EC=4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

At 1 January R—A—H 59,625 107,616

Addition ¥TIg - 839

Disposal k= (9,986) -
Net fair value changes taken to other HEtermlias s AT EEEEFE

comprehensive income (49,511) (48,830)

At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 128 59,625

Listed equity securities with carrying amount of approximately
HK$128,000 (2023: HK$59,625,000) are measured at fair
value which has been determined directly by reference to
published price and quotations in active market (2023: same).

These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are
held for long-term strategic purposes. The Directors have
elected to designate these investments in equity instruments
as at FVOCI as they believe that recognising short-term
fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding
these investments for long-term purposes and realising their
performance potential in the long run.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

LOAN RECEIVABLES 21. BRER
2024 2023
—E2E_NE —EC=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
Loan receivables W E K 2,594 2,594
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (1,686) (1,855)
Loan receivables — net FEWE R — F5E 908 739
Ageing analysis of loan receivables, net of provision as at REBBRE D R-IZE-_MFEFR-_T_=
31 December 2024 and 2023, based on past due date, is as F+-—A=+—HZERER(HOKRES)
follows: ZERBR AT ¢
2024 2023
—EDIEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Not past due N8 HA 908 739
Included in the carrying amount of loans receivables as at RZZEZWOF+—A=+—8 ' BEHER
31 December 2024 is provision of impairment losses of Z BREE B EE 1845 1,686,0007% 7T
HK$ 1,686,000 (2023: HK$1,855,000). Details of impairment —Z = =% :1,855,000/87C) ° E{EFTE
assessment are set out in note 38(a). 2 FEBER I EE38(@) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

21.

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

21. BERWER &)

Loan receivables comprise: FEWEREE
Effective
Due date interest rate Gross carrying amount
Z#A BRA= AEREE
2024 2023
—EonmEF —EC=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT
HK$1,000,000 fixed-rate loan 6 May 2020 and 12% 1,594 1,594
receivable subsequently extended
to 6 November 2023
1,000,000/8 7T 7E B FEWE TR —TCEFRARAR
BERitHE —_ T =4
+—H7xH
HK$1,000,000 fixed-rate loan 28 November 2019 and 10% 1,000 1,000
receivable subsequently extended
to 7 January 2024
1,000,000/8 7T 7E B FE W E TR —E-hF+—A
TN\ B REERTEH
E-TNFE—HALH
2,594 2,594

The loan receivables were unsecured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

TRADE RECEIVABLES E S ERARE
2024 2023
—E-ME =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx F&TT
Trade receivables =) e 5,158 6,507
Less: Provision for impairment B RERE (2,903) (4,629)
Trade receivables — net B 5 e IE — 55 2,255 1,878

Movement in the provision for impairment loss on trade
receivables is as follows:

B RYGR 2R ER R EESHINT

2024 2023

—EBoME —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FHIT

At 1 January R—HA—H 4,629 85
Impairment loss recognised during the year & A2 fERRIEE 1B 1 4,629
Impairment loss reversed during the year S RE BERIRIEEE (1,727) (85)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 2,903 4,629

The Group recognised provision for impairment of trade
receivables based on the accounting policy stated in note 2.8(b)
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

HE_Z_WNFEER_ZFE_=F+=A
=T—HIEFE  KEEBREME2.800)FT
B2 ST BURERE 5 e W GE 2 R B
=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of provision as at 31
December 2023, based on invoice dates, is as follows:

ESRWFIEE)
RZBE-_=F+-A=+—HBZ2ZFEHK
OB (B ) IR ZE B B 2 R » AT a0
™

2024 2023

—EBoMEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FH&TT

0-30 days 0&E30K 1,692 1,338
31-60 days 31E60K 427 533
61-90 days 61290K 132 7
91-120 days 91%120K 4 -
Total trade receivables B SN IARRE 2,255 1,878

The Group allows a credit period from 0 to 120 days (2023: 0
to 120 days) to its customers.

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$5,627,000.

The Directors consider that the fair values of trade receivables
are not materially different from their carrying amounts
because these amounts have short maturity periods on their
inception.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide the
ECL prescribed by HKFRSs 9. A provision of approximately
HK$2,903,000 (2023: HK$4,629,000) was made against the
gross amounts of trade receivables as at 31 December 2024.
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in note 38(a).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not hold any
collateral as security or other credit enhancements over the
impaired trade receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 23.

HttEWRE - #ERAMNK

PREPAYMENTS
2024 2023
—EIMEF —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FAT
Other receivables E b el IR 1,083 5,473
Deposits b 1,601 1,293
Prepayments SCENE 638 293
3,322 7,059
Less: Provision for impairment B ORBERE (538) (386)
2,784 6,673

Included in the carrying amount of other receivables and
deposits as at 31 December 2024 is accumulated provision for
impairment of HK$538,000 (2023: HK$386,000). Details of
impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in note 38(a).

RZZTZNF+=A=+—H  HibEWK
RERES ZEEET BIER T REE
1%538,00078 7t (==& — = & : 386,000/5
L) c BEZTZWFF+A=+—HIF
ERERE 2 FE B KT EE38(@a) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24, EHEE
2024 2023
—E2E_NE —EB-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Contract liabilities arising from: UK TNEHEEZSAEE -
Provision of advertising services RIEEERS 754 884

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities are as follows:

Provision of advertising services

The Group may take certain deposit on acceptance of the
order, with the remainder of the consideration payable at
the earlier of provision of services. The deposit remains as a
contract liability until such time as the work completed to date

TEANABSRZ RN ¢

RHEES RS
AEBAREZITERENE TR IR
& - MEBEMNRENMEHRB A S -
ReEM/BHEE BEEESETKIE
BERe < BRRRAL -

outweighs it.
Movements in contract liabilities SHEEEH
2024 2023
—EBoME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Balance at 1 January R—RA—Rz#% 884 1,512
Revenue recognised that was included in ~ FHIET AG LA E 2 B R
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (598) (1,512)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result B EF RS RIBE A LA EIL N
of proceeds received in advance from
customers 468 884
Balance at 31 December RTZRA=+—H &% 754 884
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. BERBALEEER
Bank balances and cash comprise of cash and cash equivalents. RITHEBR LA PERSRRSSEIER -
The cash balances at banks bore interest at floating rates IRITHR AR DIRBE B RITFHF B
based on daily bank deposit rates. FENFIEETE o
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EZRHEMENKIE
2024 2023
—EB-mEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Accruals FERTFI X 8,612 5,741
Other payables H b FE (SR 1,136 1,019
9,748 6,760
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

27. HE&AEE

2024 2023
—E-IEF —TC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHBT
Current mE 1,784 1,050
Non-current IERED 1,287 1,299
3,071 2,349
Future lease payments are due as follows: RIRMEEFIBEEERLAT -
Future lease
payments Interest Present value
RREENE FE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT TAT
As at 31 December 2024: RZZZE+=H
==
Not later than one year —FR 1,885 101 1,784
Later than one year but not later —F LA _HENRIEM T HE
than two years 861 40 821
Later than two years but not later M4F LA _E 1B iR = 5 HIFE
than three years 471 5 466
3,217 146 3,071
As at 31 December 2023: W-ZT-_=%+—A#
=—6:
Not later than one year —FR 1,150 100 1,050
Later than one year but not later than —% LA_{B /N385 F 2
two years 1,355 56 1,299
2,505 156 2,349

In 2024, interest on the lease liabilities is calculated using the
incremental borrowing rate were ranged between 4.51% to
6.01% (2023: 2.00% to 6.01%) per annum.
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29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

DEFERRED TAX 28. EIEBIR
Deferred taxation is calculated on temporary differences FERIBIRBEEEEAREBEBAE
under liability method using the rates of taxation prevailing BIRBITHRIZE R EZETE - AEBE(G
in the countries in which the Group operates. The Group =T TEE 18 4 105,580,000 L ( —E ==
had estimated tax losses of HK$105,580,000 (2023: % 1 99,434,000/87T) * AIBAARIKRERTLE
HK$99,434,000) to carry forward against future taxable FVEH A58 o g P X T8 )BI AT BB DA IR 85 K
profits. No deferred tax has been recognised in the BRRIEEREZ RKERTOGEN - Eitk I
consolidated financial statements as it is not probable that ENIRE SRR ERELERIE ° RIBR
future taxable profit will be available against which these TIIEEN - NREBE Z B MG EETL
unused tax losses can be utilised. All tax losses of the Group ERIHA -
have no expiry dates under the current tax legislation.
SHARE CAPITAL 29. KA
2024 2023
—E-IF —T=F
Number Number
of shares of shares
RBEE ahr 24E
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
T8 FHR Fi% FHIT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each &R E{E0.20/8 T2 &
L) g 5,000,000 1,000,000 5,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITREE :
At the beginning of year F47) 455,534 91,107 446,614 89,323
Shares issued upon exercise of BT R 31T 2
share options &l - - 8,920 1,784
At the end of year FR 455,534 91,107 455,534 91,107
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE—

30.

E_pFEf —A=+—HIFFE

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted by the Company pursuant to its resolution passed
on 29 December 2015 and expires on 28 December 2025.
The purpose of this scheme is to reward participants who
have contributed to the Group and to encourage participants
to work towards enhancing the value of the Group and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as
a whole. The Directors may, at its discretion, offer to directors,
employees of any member of the Group, any advisors and
service providers of any member of the Group, options to
subscribe for the shares in the Company at a price not less
than the highest of: (i) closing price of the shares of the
Company on the SEHK on the date of offer of the option; (ii)
average of the closing prices of the shares on the SEHK for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the options; and (iii) nominal value of a share.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of an option irrespective of numbers of share options
granted. The options vest on the condition that the grantee
is a director or employee of any member of the Group or any
advisor and service provider of any member of the Group from
the date of options grant to the commencement date of the
exercisable period of the options.

The options are exercisable at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to the grantee at
the time of making an offer in respect of any particular option
which shall not expire later than ten years from the date of
grant.

The share-based employee compensation is to be settled by
the issue of the Company’s ordinary shares. The Group has
no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the
options other than in the Company’s ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION 30. URGO Xt EEREE2)

(Continued)
Share Option Scheme (Continued) B El(E)
Details of the share options granted under the Share Option RIERE R B H B AEFBT

Scheme are as follows:

Number of
options Exercise price
Date of grant granted Validity period per share
ERHE
RHBH RIEBE BXB BRITEE
HK$
BT
22 January 2021 22,300,000 22 January 2021 to 21 January 2023 0.38
—E_—F—H-T_H —Eo-F—-A-+-HE
—E-=F—H=+—H
Number of share options
BREHA
Qutstanding Qutstanding Exercisable
at Granted Exercised Lapsed at at
1 January during during during 31 December 31 December
2023 the year the year the year 2023 2023
R-B-=F R-B-=%
R-Z_=F% t-A t-A
—R-H =+-A =t+-H
Grantees ERA RATTHE ERRL Nk FRKM HATTHR %17
Directors BZ 8,920,000 - (8,920,000) - - -
Employees (=] 13,380,000 = - (13,380,000) - -
22,300,000 - (8,920,000)  (13,380,000) - -
Weighted average exercise BT /T (E
price HK$0.38%7T NATER  HKS0.38ET  HK$0.38ETT NATER NATER
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

30.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

No new share options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

22,300,000 share options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021.
The closing price of the shares of the Company quoted
on the SEHK on 22 January 2021, being the business date
immediately before the date on which the options were
granted, was HK$0.38.

8,920,000 share options were exercised and the remaining of
13,380,000 share options were lapsed during the year ended
31 December 2023.

In respect of the share options exercised during the year ended
31 December 2023, the weighted average share price at the
date of exercise was HK$0.42.

The fair value of share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme on 22 January 2021, measured at the date of grant,
was approximately HK$2,975,000. The following significant
assumptions were used to derive the fair values, using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model.

30.

Rz R E R E e

BIRESTE(E)
REBEE_Z-_NFt+_A=+—8BKk=Z
—=E+ - A=t+—HIEERABERD
FTIBARAE o

BE-FT-_—F+-A=1TBLFE"
2R R B AR R 5T 8% [ 22,300,000 17 8 I%
o BABIATRARAN T _—F
— A=+ H(Z2EERHEREB BN
¥ H )/ TER0.38ETT °

RBEZE-_ZE-_=F+_-_A=+—HItH
£ ' 8,920,000/ FERREE EITE + MR T
13,380,000 BERRAE S AL RK -

REBEE_Z_=F+_A=+—HIFE
RETENRBREMN S - RITER 2N
REFHRRE R0.42/8 7T °

R-ZTE-—F—F-+_H  REERE
SHERE 2 EREN AT EE(RERE B
sHE) 5#92,975,00078 7T © AFEETIA

“EAMETEEY  LRAUTEAR
BB -

22 January 2021

—E_—F

—A=+=H

Share price at the date of grant R B B2 IR B HK$0.3878 7T
Exercise price IEE HK$0.38/8 7T
Expected life SELEEERNET 2 years£E
Expected volatility TEERR I8 73.1%
Dividend yield AR E = 0.00%
Risk free interest rate fEE B i A6 2 0.18%

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materiality
affect the fair value estimate.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, no share options were
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Share Award Scheme

The share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) was
adopted by the Company on 28 December 2022 and expires
on 27 December 2032, subject to any early termination as may
be determined by the board pursuant to the term of the Share
Award Scheme. The purposes of the Share Award Scheme
are to recognise the contributions of participants and give
incentives to them in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Subject to the absolute discretion of the board, the awarded
shares (where the board has determined such number
pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme) shall be
acquired by the trustee from the open market by utilising
the Company’s resources provided to the trustee. Under the
direction of the Company, the trustee may use the payment
received from the Company to purchase further shares as
reserve for future grants of awarded shares to the selected
employee(s) in accordance with the Share Award Scheme. The
trustee shall hold the Shares until such Shares are vested and
transferred to the relevant selected employees in accordance
to the terms of the Share Award Scheme.

The trustee shall vest any awarded shares and related income
held by the trustee under the trust to the selected employee
on the vesting date determined at the discretion of the board,
provided that the selected employee remains an employee
of the Group at all times after the reference date up to the
relevant vesting date.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no award shares
are awarded and caused to pay the trustee the trust fund
for purchase nor subscription of Shares. In order to reduce
administrative cost and improve the cashflow position of the
Company, the Board has resolved to terminate the Scheme
with effect from 9 August 2024. Further details are set out in
the announcement dated 9 August 2024.

30.

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

LRGBS EEREZ)

% 173 22 B =t &l
RARRZZEZ=F+Z A=+ \BIEMH
Bfn S BT &I ([ AR S8EpET &l ) - AR (R 52
BN = ==F+=-_A=+tHE
m o EHEFSIRBERD EEE & 2K
HEEMEMAERERLE - ROBEEE
ERT2EE 2 BRI TRE - AR
SEZHBELEREREBRS - WK
AEATE—TEEAEE -

REZS2RMNBRE - ZRRH(HE
ZeCREBEROERFEZGRETHRA
HB)BUARRRETEEAZER @ H
XEARRFETHWE - REARF 2
T REAREREARERE ZKIAR
BEINRD - 1ER BERBRERD ZE 8
AR E B R RE Ry 2 s - XFEA
BRB B - EEA RN RERND EE
AEZGREBREE THBEREER
=

EEEEENZ2EZERHARLEEZHERE
BH I E AR RN SAEEZ 88 RA
RT XXARREEZSRREELR
EBEH  BEFEARBELERHE 2 EME
Bty RAERR AR B TEEES -

REBEE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HIL&E
WERTRERGD - TERERAZIEAX
HERERUBENRERG - ABREST
B ARBERARRESRMA - EES
FERARILEZTE B2 -HE\A
NBRER - E—FTFBEHRBHR=-Z
ZHENANBRIRMS ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE
31. RESERVES 31. f#f&
Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are REBFEBRAFEEZEEHNETIIE
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on BZiREEmREEHER - AR TE%(%Z“@J
pages 73 to 74. Movements in the Company’s reserves are as R
follows:
Company
NG
Employee  Investment
Share compensation  revaluation ~ Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve reserve surplus losses Total
REE EESRERE REEGRE HABS ZitFR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TATL TAL TAL TATL TEL
1 January 2023 A\=F-=F—-F—H 162,310 2,975 80,302 113,321 (267,102) 91,806
Share options exercised B7frEaiE 2,79 (1,190) = = = 1,606
Share issue expenses DOESIES @ = = = = @
Share options lapsed RESA - (1,785) = = 1785 =
Transactions with equity BEGRR LR S
shareholders 2,792 (2,975) - - 1,785 1,602
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - (23,008) (23,008)
Changein fair value on equity ~ RATFEEFAZL
instruments at FVOC| 1@4& 2 RATEZ
DY EEED - = (48,842) - - (48,842)
Total comprehensive expense ~ AFE2EHY £
for the year - - (48,842) - (23,008) (71,850)
At 31 December 2023 and i S
1 January 2024 TZRA=t-Bk
—Z-_mF-A-H 165,102 - 31,460 113,321 (288,325) 21,558
Loss for the year REEER - - = = (21,593) (21,593)
Change in fair value on equity ~ RATEEF AL
instruments at FVOC %EW 3/ RATEZ
AT EESY - - (48,787) - - (48,787)
Transfer of gain on disposal of ~ BEGHERNT(ERE
equity instruments at fairvalue  FTAEMZEYE
through other comprehensive ~ BRATEZWEERE
income to retained eamings Al - - 17,327 = (17,327) -
Total comprehensive expense AR 2EFRS £
for the year = = (31,460) = (38,920) (70,380)
At 31 December 2024 \ZEmE
+=RA=1+-H 165,102 - - 113,321 (327,245) (48,822)
The Company'’s reserves available for distribution comprise its RARIA THRGHEEEESABHRKE R
contributed surplus and accumulated losses. =HEIE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. RESERVES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by Section 40 of Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended).

Employee compensation reserve

It is used to recognise the grant date fair value
of unlapsed options issued to employees but not
exercised.

Investment revaluation reserve

It represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on
the revaluation of investments in equity instruments
designated as at FVOCI, net of cumulative gain/loss
transferred to accumulated losses upon disposal.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of
the Group’s reorganisation in 2000 and represents
the difference between the nominal amount of the
share capital issued by the Company and the nominal
amount of the issued share capital of Recruit (BVI)
Limited.

Contribution surplus

Contributed surplus of the Group arose as a result of
the reduction in share capital in accordance with the
Group's capital reorganisation in 2003.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), contributed surplus account of the
Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and
its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

31. &&=

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

MR E
BOEBERNERY - NAN—F8
REDBVA(RIERT) FA0HRE -

EEHERE
AR R EEHTERITENR
RUBLREN R L AN A FEE -

REEMHREE
BERAFEESARLMCE2EKSE
MBRATARESHAELN R
W REBXL - MREERBAZR
FHERM Rt B8 -

EOH#E
AEEBZEHRBER_ZETZTEFR
SEEAESE  IBEARRMEITR
R 7 E{EERecruit (BVI) Limited 2 %
TIRAEEREZZ5E °

O

AEBZBABBRTARBERNEE
R-ZZ=FETHRAEAZHIR
PRAREL o

BRE-NN\—FAREQRRE(EE
71)  ARAHBABKRKA D
& o AT - EATBERT » RAT]
TEEABABBRE MRS -
FEHDIK

@  ARAREEREXEREX
SNEBBER =X

() HEEMAIBZREE/AL

BEREBEREDHEITRA
Ko Bt s (BRR P HOABA ©

“TOEER RELARAH

159
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

32. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 32. #ERATZBEMRREK
FINANCIAL POSITION
2024 2023
—EBNEF S
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Mo5E FEx F&TT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHSE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIMBRBIZRE 4,988 4,988
Investment in an associate R—EBE QR E 34 13,922 13,922
Property, plant and equipment W - B KEAE 13 =
Right-of-use assets EREEE 865 1,809
Equity instruments at FVOCI BRAFEEFALMEERE
AT A - 58,774
Financial asset at FVTPL AT BB AB®T I
A 3,267 3,267
Loan receivables U E K - =
23,055 82,760
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE L FfT 8~ B IR 9,050 31,438
Other receivables, deposits and HEAbEUGRIA « e RIENK
prepayments ‘ 1,193 748
Loan receivables FEUE K 908 739
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEIEER 29,191 3,648
40,342 36,573
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables H At fE T FRIE 8,456 4,865
Amounts due to subsidiaries LB NGIb e 11,814 -
Current portion of lease liabilities HEB RS 842 875
21,112 5,740
Net current assets mEEEFRE 19,230 30,833
Total assets less current liabilities AEERGEER 42,285 113,593
Non-current liabilities FkRBAR
Non-current portion of lease liabilities FHE& & & IEENHAZE S - 928
Net assets EEFRE 42,285 112,665
EQUITY s
Share capital AR 29 91,107 91,107
Reserves it 31 (48,822) 21,558
Total equity A 42,285 112,665
On behalf of the directors REES

160

Yiu Sze Wai Chung Anita Mei Yiu
B B X
Director Director

EE EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R M EE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

33. FEMEBLATFE

Issued and fully

Place/country of paid share
incorporation/ capital/
Date of incorporation/  establishment and type ~ Class of registered Percentage of issued Principal activities and
Name of company establishment of legal entity shares capital  capital held by the Company place of operations
MR/ R BRZ BETR
R/ e/ BRREERE BRRIRE/ ARAMRERT
ARER RIAH £l RGEH &R RazEAM IERBRAEHY
2024 2023
“EopE | CFoCR
Indirect Indirect
3 A
Kingkey E-Commerce Limited 5 May 2008 Hong Kong, limited liabiity  Ordinary HK$2,000 100% 100%  E-commerce business,
(Formerly known as company Hong Kong
Sagacious Education Limited)
RESHERLAAGIRAEY —S\ERARA &5 ARAA £k 200047 BTHHES B
HEERAT)
Central Publisher Limited 26 September 1997 Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary HK$1,000 100% 100%  Publishing and investment
company trading, Hong Kong
SRR ERAT “WEERAZTRR Bk ARAR Tk 1,000E7 HREREEE B4
Recruit Information Technology 7 November 2003 Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary HK$1,000 100% 100%  Provision of website
Limited company development and
information technology
services, Hong Kong
TERREEARAA ZERCET-AtR BFARAE EER 1,000/ 7C REBERREARR
Bk &
Recruit & Company Limited 13 April 2006 Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary HKS1 100% 100%  Provision of advertising
company service, Hong Kong
Reauit & CompanyLimted ~ “EEAEEA+=A &% BRAH Tk BT RIEESRE B4
Media Services Limited 30 April 1999 Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary HK$52,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of advertising
company senvices, Hong Kong
Media Services Limited “NAAERA=TR &% ARAH LER 5200000087 REEERE - B
FIMEEBERLA 12 March 2024 PRC, limited liability Ordinary RVIB3,000,000 100% ~ Provision of advertising
company services, PRC
MImEERRAR ZE-MESRZR HE ARAT BRER  ARM3000000% REREEHRE - P&

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the
particulars of all subsidiaries would be of excessive length and
therefore the above list contains only the particulars of the
subsidiaries which materially affect the results or assets of the

Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

EER5 2BYLMENBRARZFE
SEYRFEBH UK - Fit EREEHIY
AEBZREREEBNEATEZMNE
DRLZFFE

B 8 2 I R 3 ) B X B AR 7
ERERHES

“TOEER RELARAH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

33A. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group completed the disposal of the entire equity interest
in Glory Novel Limited, Beyond Noble Holdings Limited and
Smart Path Enterprises Limited on 29 May 2024 and 23
December 2024 respectively.

The net assets of Glory Novel Limited at the date of disposal
were as follow:

33A. HEME AT

AEBSHIR-_ZE_WFAA=-_T A
R_E-_M&E+-_A-+=ZHAZKHE
Glory Novel Limited + Beyond Noble Holdings
Limited }z Smart Path Enterprises Limited#)%
BOR AN HE SR ©

Glory Novel Limited?d i & H Bif) & &5 E
LUl

2024
—ENEF
HK$'000
FET
Property, plant and equipment L EN N L] 207
Intangible assets B EE 260
Amount due to group companies AN EINGIE e (896)
(429)
Settlement of amounts due from disposal a subsidiary 455 & U H & — R B A R Z0E 896
Less: consideration B RE (260)
Loss on disposal & E5E 207
Consideration KB 260
Less: cash disposed of B EHERS -
Net cash inflow arising on the disposal HEEE RS MAFE 260

In December 2024, the Group completed the disposal of the
entire equity interest in Beyond Noble, which is the legal and
beneficial owner of 51% of the entire issued share capital of
KK Wecheck Medical Technology Limited (“KK Wecheck”), KK
Wecheck has been deconsolidation on 1 July 2023. The gain
on disposal of Beyond Noble is approximately HK$19,000.

In December 2024, the Group completed the disposal of the
entire equity interest in Smart Path. The gain on disposal of
Beyond Noble is approximately HK$1,600.

ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED Annual Report 2024
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Beyond Noble #J% #(%#E - Beyond Noble
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A NB4RE AR o HE Beyond Noble 242
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

33B. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARY 33B. BUHK B A B&ZE AR
On 1 July 2023, the Group executed the disposal of the entire RZBEZ=F+A—H ' AEBEUZKE
equity interest in KK Wecheck at nil consideration. MITHEREREHN 2 ERHE -
The net assets of KK Wecheck at the date of disposal were as REXENHEBBENEEFENT :
follow:
2023
T
HK$'000
FHT
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE 168
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HAbEWGRIA « Re RIEN K 3,716
Cash and cash equivalents RekReESEIER 132
Contract liabilities AHAE (76)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAERFRIA (5)
Amount due to group companies AN ESEINGIE e (3,585)
Provision for taxation TIB R (62)
288
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR R (141)
147
Settlement of amounts due from deconsolidation HEEEWEUE B A RliRE AR
a subsidiary 3,630
Less: consideration o RE =
Loss on deconsolidation BUEsRE ABREE 3,777
Consideration KB =
Less: cash deconsolidation of B BUBRRE ARCIRE (132)
Net cash outflow arising on the deconsolidation BUBfRE ABREERNIR ML (132)

—momasg aExERaE 103
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

34.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

On 3 April 2023, the Company subscribed 45% of the issued
shares in Aurora Medical Technology (HK) Corp. Limited
("Aurora”), which is an investment holding company for
consideration of HK$16,044,000. Aurora and its subsidiaries
engaged in provision of medical and healthcare services.

34.

R—EBEQXTNERE
RZZ-=FWA=H  AAFREKRE
ERAFE & (BB BENMEEEER
AR (B ])H45% B T’k - RIE
716,044,000 7T © B In K H KB A A
M ERHEERERT -

2024 2023

—E-EF T =F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FETT

Cost of investment in an associate R—EEE AR E KA 16,044 16,044
Share of post-acquisition loss FEAE U i1 5 18 (2,122) (2,122)
13,922 13,922

The Group failed to exercise their right to assign a director into
Aurora’s board during the reporting period. Consequently,
there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that the Group
exercises significant influence over Aurora, calling into
question the appropriateness of classifying Aurora as an
associate under HKAS 28. The existing directors were unable
to obtain the audited financial statements and books and
records of Aurora for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2024.
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35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35.

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which
are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Save as
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
details of other significant transactions between the Group
and other related parties during the year are disclosed as
follows:

(@) Related party transactions

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

BEALRS
ARBREMBAR(ANARZEEAL)
ZRZENREUTE MK B S E MW &R
AHEABE © RSB RREME D
BREIN  AEBEEEMBAEALTRNFEA
BT EMEARSFBRENT

(a) BEALXS

Nature of transactions REME
2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FHBT BT
Rental income HEUWA (i) 437 -
Professional fees EEEH (i) - (1,950)
Advertising and marketing BEREHERBA
fees income/(expense) (FAX) 2,505 (350)
Notes: BI5E -
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, rental 0) BE-_Z_NWF+=-—A=+—H

income was received from related companies, in
which Mr. Ma Fei, a former non-executive director, is
a director and has control over its company, for the
rental of office premises.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2023,
professional fees were paid to a related company,
in which Mr. Tsang Hing Bun, a former director of
the Company, is a director and has control over this
company, for providing company secretary services.

LWLFE - ERERE QR (B13EH
TEEERELERZRRAEER
AR WA ERA - 1E
RERRREYEZER -

(ii) HE-Z-_=F+-"H=+—H
IEFE  ENBXERTHER
Al(ANARAESEEELET
BZAREEREREGIE)
DARREE R B RS E BRTS ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

EiE—

FoHFEF A=+t —HIFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 35. BEATIRZ @)
(b) Amounts due from/(to) related parties (b) FEW(FE(T)BREEA LFIE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the RIFERR - AEBEHEBEEALTS
following balance with related parties: VAR AE8R -
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Included in other receivables: ST A B Ath FEIRIE
Xcentz Limited (Note) Xcentz Limited (BHEI) 69 =
Coolpad Group Limited (Note) HiIk =B AR AR (FFE) 69 -
Included in accruals and other payables: 5 AFETF s M H A FE{HF0E :
Kingkey Enterprise Hong Kong Limited REZTZZEBARA R (FizE)
(Note) (370) (1,020)
Note: Amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured, MizE - U (B BEA LR AE
interest free and expected to be recovered/due to be B - TEHEBEHER—FA
repaid within one year. Weie, B EAEE -
() Compensation of key management personnel () FEEEBAEWHME
The key management personnel of the Group are the REBXTZEEABRES - =

Directors. The remuneration of the key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance
of individuals and market trends. Details of the
remuneration paid to them are set out in note 10(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE+ - A=+—HIFFEF

36. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF CASH 36. B&REXRMT

FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities: BIEEBEL 2 BIEHER :
Lease
liabilities
HESE
(Note 27)
(FtEE27)
HK$'000
FHIT
At 1 January 2023 RZZE=-_=F—HF—H 1,846
Changes from cash flows: ReRer &)
Repayments of principal portion of lease liabilities BEAEERZAEHD (1,435)
Interest paid BERAFE (67)
Total changes from financing cash flows BMER & mEBEE (1,502)
Other changes: HAb B E) -
Effect of lease modification HEBHRTE 2,471
Early termination of lease RERITHEE (533)
Interest expenses (Note 8) F 2 F X (FzES) 67
Total other changes HAb S E)EzE 2,005
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 ﬁ\_;?__iJr HA=+—8Bk
—EUF—H—H 2,349
Changes from cash flows: Rens s &) :
Repayments of principal portion of lease liabilities BEBERBECASH Y (1,001)
Interest paid BEIHE (137)
Total changes from financing cash flows BMERSREBEE (1,138)
Other changes: Hh &g
New lease entered STHESRIFIAL 2,243
Early termination of lease RPRIEAE (520)
Interest expenses (Note 8) MBI (FEEs) 137
Total other changes Hibh e ze 1,860
At 31 December 2024 R-ZF_mOF+—-_HA=+—8~ 3,071

—zopgss aEeeRAn 10/
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

37. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 37.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amount of financial

assets and liabilities:

EHE

BERE D 2UBEERUBER

TRINLHBEER BB ZREE

2024 2023
—EBoMEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Financial assets BigEE
At FVTPL: BEATEER AR :
— Investment in fund —REE2"E 2,309 2,307
— Club membership with debenture — B e 855 3,267 3,267
5,576 5,574
At FVOCI: BAFEBEFAEMEEYE
— Equity instruments —RATER 128 59,625
At amortised costs: REHA AN
— Trade receivables — & Z WA 2,255 1,878
— Other receivables and deposits — H At R GIE R e 2,146 6,380
— Loan receivables —EURE K 908 739
— Cash and cash equivalents - R MIRESEMEIAER 37,042 30,081
42,351 39,078
Financial liabilities BMEaE
At amortised cost; R SHA AN
— Trade and other payables —E Z RKEMERFIE 9,748 6,760
— Lease liabilities —HEAE 3,071 2,349
12,819 9,109
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, loan
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables and lease liabilities.

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of
these financial instruments approximates fair value.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded in active
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted
market prices.

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value

hierarchy:

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are

not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

37. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 37. RERZ o2 BEERMKE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BEHE )
(Continued)
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (b) BROAVEEFEZMBEIAE)
(Continued)
2024
—ENF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
H1E F2E HE3E &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHET
Financial assets at FVTPL EAVEBER AERE
ZUEEE
— Investment in fund —REEZ2KE - 2,309 - 2,309
— Club membership with — BN e S &S
debenture - 3,267 - 3,267
- 5,576 - 5,576
Financial assets at FVOCI| BAFEETARM
W 2 BT
— Listed equity securities — ETRAE S 128 - - 128
2023
—E=F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
%1 F2E FEIE A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THET T T
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEE ARG
2B E
— Investment in fund —RESZRE = 2,307 = 2,307
— Club membership with —BEeEESH
debenture - 3,267 - 3,267
- 5,574 - 5,574
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEE AELM
ZHE W 2 BT
BE
— Listed equity securities — ERAEES 59,625 = - 59,625
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38.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
instrument risks: market risk (including foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance
by closely monitoring the individual exposure.

The Group does not have written risk management policies
and guidelines. However, the board of directors meets
periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage
the Group'’s exposure to a variety of risks which resulted from
its operating and investing activities. Generally, the Group
employs conservative strategies regarding its risk management
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out as follows:

(@) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
loan receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The
carrying amounts of trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits, loan receivables and cash and cash
equivalents represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

To manage this risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, the Group only transacts with reputable
commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions. There has no recent history of
default in relation to these financial institutions.

38.

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. Trade
receivables are due within 0 to 120 days (2023: 3 to
120 days) from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

38. BIREBERE %)

Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERRE)
Trade receivables (Continued) BEZEWRIEE)
The following table provides information about the TR AEERE FEWKIEZ
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade FEERBRAERBEHEEGECE
receivables: =
2024
“EZFE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TR ER HEREE ERRE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Collective assessment SREFTL
Current BNHA 0.03% 1,693 1
1-30 days 1230K 0.03% 427 -
31-60 days 31260 0.55% 133 1
61-90 days 61290k 13.74% 4 -
91-120 days 91E120K 79.48% - -
121-150 days 121£2 150K - - -
Over 150 days 8@ 150K 100.00% 2,901 2,901
5,158 2,903
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

38. BIERERE#)

(@) Credit risk (Continued) (a) GEERRE)
Trade receivables (Continued) BEZEWRIEE)
2023
—E-=F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHAE1E HARHEE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T
Collective assessment ST

Current BIER 45.32% 2,447 1,109
1-30 days 1230K 45.32% 975 442
31-60 days 31E60K 95.61% 151 144
61-90 days 61£90K 100.00% 26 26
91-120 days 91£120K 100.00% 1 1
121-150 days 1212150k 100.00% 7 7
Over 150 days BB 150K 100.00% 2,900 2,900
6,507 4,629

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years (2023: 3 years). These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.

ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED Annual Report 2024

EHEBERERNALRIF(ZE==
F:3F ) EREEES - 25
A B LA [ R BT U ER R S R R
AL AR« REEARD AR AN EE
¥ T8 HA FE GRIB 6 Bl A 2 4 B AR
ZFEﬁE}‘j?I;}D]U °©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor credit
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due related to a number
of independent customers that had a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believed that impairment allowance was
immaterial in respect of these balances as there had
been no significant change in credit quality and the
balances were still considered fully recoverable.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables during the year is set out in note 22
above.

Other receivables and deposits (excluding
prepayments)

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience,
and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group measures loss allowances for
other receivables and deposits at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs when they believes that there are
no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition. The Group measures loss
allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs when
management believes there is significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition.

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits (excluding
prepayments) (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for other
receivables and deposits ranged from 0.00%-65.00%
(2023: 0.00%-71.50%) on the gross carrying amount
of other receivables and deposits.

As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying amount
of other receivables and deposits was HK$2,684,000
(2023: HK$6,766,000) and after deducting impairment
provision, the maximum exposure to loss was
HK$2,146,000 (2023: HK$6,380,000). The Group
made no write-off of other receivables and deposits
during both years.

Movement in the provision for impairment loss on
other receivables and deposits is as follows:

BRERER#)
(a) GEERRE)

HiEWFHER B S (FAAREBEND)

(&

7N 2 B L A FE R FR0E IR S B 42

REAETENEMERZRERIZS
K E BB F0.00% £65.00%
T =% :0.00%%E71.50%) °

RZFEZWME+=ZA=+—8 "
HMERFEBERZS 2 BEREE
7#%2,684,0008 T(ZF =4 :
6,766,000/ 70) + M1 BR A E B E
% = EERER 2,146,000/ 70
—T =4 :6,380,000/87T) ° A
5= B0 770 9 4 PO A6 4 it 8 L b B K
BERED -

EL 4 R OB R 2 L
ERHMT

2024 2023

—2omE —R=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHIT

At 1 January Rn—H—H 386 62
Impairment loss reversed FARERESE

during the year - 3)
Impairment loss recognised FAERREBE

during the year 152 327

At 31 December KW+=ZA=+—H 538 386
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Loans receivables

The Group has compared with the market ratings of
similar companies to determine the ECL rate for the
third parties in determining their credit risk.

Over the terms of the loans, the Group accounts for
its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECLs on
a timely basis. In calculating the expected loss rates,
the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category of loan, and adjusts for forward looking
macroeconomic data. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group provided for ECLs against credit-impaired loans
receivables based on lifetime ECLs (2023: 12-months
ECLs) when management believes there is significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. ECLs is
assessed to be 65.00% (2023: 71.50%) on the gross
carry amount of loans.

As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying amount
of loans receivables was HK$2,594,000 (2023:
HK$2,594,000) and after deducting impairment
provision, the maximum exposure to loss was
HK$908,000 (2023: HK$739,000). The Group made no
write-off of loan receivables during the year (2023: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BERRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

38.

ALLEGRO CULTURE LIMITED Annual Report 2024

(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. MBEREE®
Credit risk (Continued) (@) FEREE)
Loans receivables (Continued) EBWER(E)
Movement in the provision for impairment loss on loan ERER 2 BEBEREZSHIT -
receivables is as follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHIT
At 1 January Rn—H—H 1,855 561
Impairment loss recognised FARRREEE
during the year - 1,294
Impairment loss reversed FAREREBE
during the year (169) -
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—8H 1,686 1,855
Maximum exposure to credit risk BeiEERKE
At the end of the reporting period, no financial RIFEHEERE  AEERAR

guarantees were issued by the Group and the

Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

(9]

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates.

The Group does not have material exposure to
currency risk as most of the Group’s transactions are
carried out in HK$, which is the functional currency of
the Company. The Group reviews its foreign currency
exposures on a regular basis and does not consider its
foreign currency risk to be significant.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group's
sensitivity to the change in foreign currency exchange
rates is low.

The Company is not exposed to any significant foreign
currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to interest
rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets and
liabilities of material amounts with floating interest
rates except for deposits held in banks. Cash at bank
earns interest at floating rates based on the daily
bank deposit rates during the year. Any change in the
interest rate promulgated by banks from time to time is
not considered to have significant impact to the Group.
The Group adopts centralised treasury policies in cash
and financial management and focuses on reducing
the Group’s overall interest expense.

Management did not consider it necessary to use
interest rate swaps to hedge their exposure to interest
rate risk as the interest rate risk exposure is not
significant.
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e B ISR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements, its compliance with lending covenants
and its relationships with its bankers to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

The Group had net current assets of HK$30,703,000
(2023: HK$30,677,000) and net assets of
HK$52,268,000 (2023: HK$114,305,000) as at 31
December 2024. In the opinion of Directors, the
Group's exposure to liquidity risk is limited.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at each of the reporting dates of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payment computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on current rates at the reporting date)
and the earliest date the Group may be required to

pay.

Specifically, for borrowing which contain a repayment
on demand clause which can be exercised at the
financial institution’s sole discretion, the analysis shows
the cash outflow based on the earliest period in which
the entity is required to pay, that is if the financial
institutions were to invoke the unconditional rights to
call the loan with immediate effect.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

(e)

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

38. BIREBERE %)

Liquidity risk (Continued) d) ARBELERE)
Total Within More than More than
contractual three months three months  one year but
Carrying undiscounted oron but less than less than
amount cash flow demand one year five years
HWITHREER  RAS=EAR  EBB=fEA BR-F
EHE BERE HEER  ER-FR BREER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAT THT TAT TAT
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-MF
+T=A=t+-H
Non-derivatives: FOTHEIR
Trade and other payables B REMERTE 9,748 9,748 9,748 = =
Lease liabilities HEGE 3,071 3217 535 1,350 1332
12,819 12,965 10,283 1,350 1,332
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%&
t=A=1-8
Non-derivatives: FITEIR:
Trade and other payables B REMERTE 6,760 6,760 6,760 = =
Lease liabilities MHEBE 2,349 2,505 272 878 1,355
9,109 9,265 7,032 878 1,355
Fair values (e) RAFEE

The Directors consider the fair values of the Group's
current financial assets and liabilities are not materially
different from their carrying amounts because of the
immediate or short-term maturity of these financial
instruments. The fair values of non-current financial
assets and liabilities were not disclosed because
these are not materially different from their carrying
amounts.

EER5 ARAKERDUBE
ElBEBRHRNEHRBIE
BRER B TR AFEEERR
HELEENER - ARIERBH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEf - A=+—HIFE

39.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES

The Group's objectives when managing capital are:

o To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

o To support the Group's stability and growth; and

o To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group's risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash
flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic
investment opportunities. The Group has not adopted any
formal dividend policy.

Management regards total equity as capital, for capital
management purpose. The amount of capital as at 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$52,268,000
(2023: HK$114,305,000), which management considers as
optimal having considered the projected capital expenditures
and the projected strategic investment opportunities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

1.

The Group have acquired 45% interest in an associate,
namely Aurora Medical Technology (HK) Corp. Limited
("Aurora”) for approximately HK$16,000,000 on April
2023.

The Company disposed of its entire interests in
an investment of an associate company for the
consideration of HK$9,950,000. The transaction
was completed in May 2025. Upon completion, the
Company ceased to hold any interest in Aurora. The
Company have recorded loss on disposal of an associate
approximately HK$6,000,000.

Litigation
HCA 281/2024

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries
commenced an action against a former Director and
his controlled company for damages and equitable
compensation arising out of, among others, the
said Director’s breach of fiduciary duties and/or
knowing receipt of benefits from such breaches.
The former Director and his controlled company had
filed a defence and counterclaim. The Company had
subsequently filed a reply and defence to counterclaim.
As pleadings have now closed, the case shall proceed
to the case management stage for further directions.
No hearing date has been fixed for the proceedings.

DCCJ 1940/2024

A former Director commenced an action against the
Company for alleged defamatory statements contained
in the Company’s announcements published in
compliance of the Listing Rules of Hong Kong. The
Company had filed a defence in response to contest
the former Director’s alleged defamatory claim. No
hearing date has been fixed for the proceedings.

For the above two litigation cases, concerning still in
the preliminary stage. The Board of the Group is of the
view that there is a credible legal basis to resolve the
claims.

e M BERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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40.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

2,

Litigation (Continued)

HCA 241/2024

The Company commenced an action against another
company concerning a dispute arising out of a
subscription agreement. In the amended statement of
claim, the Company sought (i) a declaration that the
said subscription agreement was null and void and
of no legal effect, (ii) rescission of the subscription
agreement, and (iii) return of the consideration paid
for the subscription of shares in the defendant. The
defendant had filed a defence.

Upon the completion of the agreement of sales and
purchase for the shares in dispute, the Company has
disposed of the shares in dispute. Consequently, parties
signed a consent summons to discontinue the action
which the court had approved.

HCMP 1474/2024

The Company commenced taxation proceedings
against its former solicitors in relation to the invoices
for service rendered. The former solicitors have
provided further itemized breakdown regarding the
invoices and the Company is reviewing the same.

All of the relevant former solicitors fee has been
recognized in the financial statement.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited consolidated financial statements is set out below:

Financial Summary

MBEREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FE - A=+—HIFE

Financial year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=1T—HLBBREE

AEEBERAMRERZFEREERABZH
2T - TSR E C TR 2 BB MK

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—EZTF —E -4 —E-—F —E =4 —E-E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TBIT BT FHET
RESULTS E
Revenue from REFELEEE
continuing Z Wz
operations 20,051 34,893 54,154 36,332 31,515
20,051 34,893 54,154 36,332 31,515
Attributable to: LA AL -
Equity shareholders of 7N B)REZSAE R
the company (22,562) (7,109) (8,850) (35,934) (12,494)
Non-controlling interests ZFi% A% 25 203 64 178 (304) -
Loss of the year REEEE (22,359) (7,045) (8,672) (36,238) (12,494)
As at 31 December
R+=—H=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—F-FF T —F T -F ZFT=F | ZEZ@EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FET FET FERT
ASSETS AND EEHEE
LIABILITIES
Total assets BEE 160,731 196,363 209,528 124,298 65,841
Total liabilities FEN=R (23,623) (19,315) (13,400) (9,993) (13,573)
Total equity R 137,108 177,048 196,128 114,305 52,268
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Corporate Information
NGRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai
Mr. Chen Jiajun (Chairman) (resigned on 20 May 2024)
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Ms. Sun Jing (appointed on 8 July 2024)
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Mr. Ma Fei (resigned on 8 July 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
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Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and
resigned on 25 October 2024)

Mr. Li Chaobo (appointed on 8 April 2024)

Ms. Yang Wanning (appointed on 30 August 2024)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (resigned on 30 August 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Pui Ling Elaine (appointed on 1 August 2024)
Mr. Chan Chun Kau (resigned on 1 August 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Yiu Sze Wai
Ms. Ho Pui Ling Elaine (appointed on 1 August 2024)
Mr. Chan Chun Kau (resigned on 1 August 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Yang Wanning (Chairladly)
(appointed on 30 August 2024)

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung, Alex

Mr. Wong Kwok Kuen (appointed on 8 April 2024 and
resigned on 25 October 2024)

Mr. Li Chaobo (appointed on 8 April 2024)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (resigned on 30 August 2024)
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AUDITOR
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Certified Public Accountants
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